
July 8, 2019City Council Agenda   Page 1 of 2 

 
 

City of Lake Geneva, 626 Geneva St, Lake Geneva, WI 53147- 262.248.3673- www.cityoflakegeneva.com 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL 
MONDAY, JULY 8, 2019 6:00 P.M. 

LAKE GENEVA CITY HALL; COUNCIL CHAMBERS (MAIN LEVEL) 

 
Members: 

Mayor Tom Hartz, Council President, John Halverson, Council Vice President, Cindy Flower,  
Alderpersons: Selena Proksa, Doug Skates, Tim Dunn, Ken Howell, Shari Straube, and Rich Hedlund 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Mayor Hartz calls the meeting to order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance – Alderperson Proksa 
 
3. Roll Call 
 
4. Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 

 
5. Re-consider business from previous meeting 

 
6. Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 

hearing items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
 

7. Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
 

8. Approve Regular City Council Meeting minutes of June 24, 2019, as prepared and distributed 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, Licensing and Regulation on July 2, 2019 
Any item listed on the consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request 
requires no second, is not discussed, and is not voted upon. 

 
a. 2019-2020 Original & Renewal Operator License applications filed by various applicants as listed in packet 

 
b. Discussion/Recommendation regarding a 2019-2020 Massage Establishment License Renewal Application 

filed by Jasmine Salon & Spa  
 
c. Alcohol License Premise Extension Application for Lake Geneva Lanes for July 27, 2019 from 8:00 a.m. to 

7:00 p.m. for the event of the Legion Classic Car Show 
 
d. Alcohol License Premise Extension Application for The Bottle Shop to include 609 W Main St & 621 W 

Main St, Lake Geneva, WI 
 
e. 2019-2020 Taxi Cab Company License Renewal Application filed by Cruzin’ Transportation 

 

 



July 8, 2019City Council Agenda   Page 2 of 2 

10. Second Reading of Ordinance 19-10 amending subsections (a) and (c ) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child 
Safety Zones, and Repealing Subsection (d) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child Safety Zones, Section 50-203, 
Loitering, and Section 50-204, Exceptions to Loitering of Article IV, Child Safety Zones of Chapter 50, Offenses and 
Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Relating to amending the distance for 
Child Safety Zones within the City of Lake Geneva, Prohibitions against residency by sexually violent criminals, and 
loitering near child safety zones 

 
 
11. Recommendation of the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee of July 2, 2019- Ald Howell 

 
a. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R53 amending the City of Lake Geneva Fee Schedule relating to 

rental rates changes for the Riviera Ballroom 
 
b. Discussion/Action regarding awarding bid for Riviera Seawall and Pier Inspection to Collins Engineering Inc 

in an amount not to exceed $9,500 
 
c. Discussion/Action regarding awarding bid for Riviera Asbestos- Containing Materials and Lead Paint 

Inspection to Intertek/PSI in an amount not to exceed $4,600 
 
d. Discussion/Action regarding approval of $53,000 to be paid from the General Fund- Fund Balance to conduct 

a feasibility study at the former Hillmoor Site 
 
e. Discussion/Action regarding proposed policy implementation relating to Standing Committee agenda item 

deadlines 
 

f. Discussion/Acceptance regarding July 2, 2019 Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee Payment 
Approval Report  

 
 
12. Adjournment 

 
Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance to participate in this meeting or hearing, should be made to the City 

Clerk’s office in advance so the appropriate accommodations can be made. 

 



June 24, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 1 of 4 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
MONDAY, JUNE 24, 2019 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
Members: Mayor Tom Hartz, Council President, John Halverson, Council Vice President, Cindy Flower,  
Alderpersons: Selena Proksa, Doug Skates, Tim Dunn, Ken Howell, Shari Straube, and Rich Hedlund 
 
 
Mayor Hartz called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 

 
Alderperson Howell led the Council in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll Call 
Present: Proksa, Skates, Dunn, Halverson, Hedlund, and Howell 
Absent: Straube and Flower 

 
Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 

 
Announcement; The City has opened the annual plan amendment process which will run in conjunction with the ten-year 
update of the City of Lake Geneva’s Comprehensive Plan 
Mayor Hartz noted that the City of Lake Geneva will be conducting the annual plan amendment process in conjunction 
with the ten- year update.  
 
Re-consider business from previous meeting 
None 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public hearing 
items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
Dick Malmin, N1991 S Lake Shore Dr; Spoke on behalf of another person and spoke in opposition of the renewal of the 
liquor license for Samson Enterprises. 
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
Clerk Kropf noted there isn’t correspondence to acknowledge at this time. 
 
Approve Regular City Council Meeting minutes of June 10, 2019, as prepared and distributed 
Motion by Hedlund to approve the June 10, 2019 Council minutes, second by Halverson. No discussion. Motion carried 
6-0. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, Licensing and Regulation on June 4, 2019 & June 18, 2019 
Any item listed on the consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request requires 
no second, is not discussed, and is not voted upon. 
 
-2019-2020 Original & Renewal Operator License applications filed by various applicants as listed in packet 

 
-Temporary Operator License Application filed by Robert McCormick to be used at the St Francis De Sales Fall Festival  

 
-Temporary Class “B”/ “Class B” Retailer’s License filed by the Lake Geneva Rotary Club to be used at the Lake Geneva 
Oktoberfest on Saturday, October 12, 2019 (11:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.) and Sunday, October 13, 2019 (11:00 a.m. to 5:00 
p.m.); Beer tent to be located in street between 726 Geneva St and 727 Geneva St 
Motion by Hedlund to approve the consent agenda, second by Skates. No discussion. Motion carried 6-0. 

 
 
 
 
 

 



June 24, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 2 of 4 

First Reading of Ordinance 19-10 amending subsections (a) and (c ) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child Safety 
Zones, and Repealing Subsection (d) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child Safety Zones, Section 50-203, Loitering, 
and Section 50-204, Exceptions to Loitering of Article IV, Child Safety Zones of Chapter 50, Offenses and Miscellaneous 
Provisions, of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Relating to amending the distance for Child Safety Zones 
 within the City of Lake Geneva, Prohibitions against residency by sexually violent criminals, and loitering near child 
safety zones 
Mayor Hartz offered Ordinance 19-10 as a first reading. 
 
Recommendation of the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee of June 4, 2019 & June 18, 2019- Ald 
Howell 

 
Discussion/Action regarding awarding the 2019 Street Improvement Project Bid (including Engineer costs) to Payne & 
Dolan in an amount not to exceed $750,000 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Halverson. Howell noted that this did go out to bid. The bid did come in higher 
than the budgeted amount, but that the work will not exceed $750,000 per budget. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding the purchase and installation of fence for the Department of Public Works from Century 
Fence in an amount not to exceed $26,955 to be paid from the Capital Projects fund 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Hedlund. Howell noted that this will aid in the safety of individuals wishing to 
use the City’s dump site. Finance Director Hall noted that this came in under the budgeted amount. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Renewal of 2019-2020 “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor & Class “B” Fermented Malt 
Beverage license application filed by Samson Enterprises LLC d/b/a Northsiders, 642 W Main St, Michelle Norgard, 
Agent 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Heldund. Proksa noted that there were concerns with how little the business had 
been open. She did indicate that the Finance Committee did meet with him and he noted that he will be open on weekends 
only. City Attorney Draper noted that in order to not renew the license the Council will need to offer the applicant notice 
and that there would need to be a public hearing. Attorney Draper cited chapter 125.12 that indicates what offenses could 
constitute the non-renewal of the license. Alderperson Dunn indicated that the sidewalk hadn’t been shoveled all winter 
and presented itself as a hazard. Attorney Draper noted that if the Council approves it today they would still have the 
ability to revoke the license moving forward. Motion carried 5-1, with Dunn voting no.  
 
Discussion/Action regarding Renewal of 2019-2020 Class “A” Fermented Malt Beverage license application filed by 
Tienda El Rancho Inc d/b/a Tienda El Rancho, 1151 Elkhorn Rd, Mercedes Jaramillo, Agent  
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Halverson. No discussion. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding an Original “Class A” Intoxicating Liquor license and Class “A” Fermented Malt Beverage 
license application filed by Kelley Williamson Company d/b/a Kelley’s Market, 350 N Edwards Blvd, Suzanne Dorsey-
Sterling, Agent 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Hedlund. No discussion. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding an Original Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage license and “Class C” Wine license 
application filed by The Candle Mercantile LLC d/b/a The Candle Mercantile, 870 W Main St, Elizabeth Doyle, Agent 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Halverson. No discussion. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R52 amending the City of Lake Geneva Fee Schedule Paramedic Intercept 
Fees 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Skates. No discussion. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Acceptance regarding June 2019 Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee Payment Approval Report  
Motion by Howell to accept the June 2019 Finance, Licensing, Regulation Committee Payment Approval Report, second 
by Halverson. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
 
 
 



June 24, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 3 of 4 

Recommendation of the Plan Commission of June 17, 2019- Ald Skates 
 

Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R46 authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Tristan 
Crist, 100 Skyline Dr., Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for a Commercial Outdoor Entertainment land use for the patio 
area to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, and that amplified music not be allowed and 
that outdoor entertainment shall cease one hour after the commencement of the last show of the evening. The property is 
located at 100 N Edwards Blvd., located within the Planned Business (PB) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZA196100004 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by Proksa. 
Skates noted that the outdoor area was accidentally excluded from his original conditional use and that this will include 
the outdoor patio. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R47 authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Elizabeth 
Tumas, 1142 Cypress Point, Twin Lakes, WI 53181 for the property located at 617 W. Main St to allow outdoor music 
this request is for a Commercial Outdoor Entertainment land use, located in the Central Business (CB) zoning district. Tax 
Key No. ZOP00291 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by Proksa. 
Skates noted that the public hearing was very positive. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R48 authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) filed by 
Tom and Denise Pecora, 911 Mason Ln., Lake in the Hills, IL 60156, for the installation of 90’ long 6’ wide pier and one 
boat slip located at1550 Lake Shore Dr., within the Estate Residential – 1 (ER-1) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZLM00048 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by 
Hedlund. Skates noted that the pier compiled with City ordinance and still needs approved from the DNR. Motion carried 
6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R49 authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) filed by 
SCH Lake LLC, 131 Dearborne St., Chicago, IL 60603 for the installation of 100’ long 8’ wide pier and two boat slip 
located at 700 S. Lake Shore Dr., within the Estate Residential – 1 (ER-1) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZBB00007A 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by 
Halverson. Skates noted that this is contingent upon DNR approval as well. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R50 authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) filed by 
Samantha Strenger, 615 Center St., Lake Geneva WI, 53147 to operate a Commercial Indoor Lodging at 695 Wells Street, 
located in the Planned Business District (PB) zoning, Tax Key No. ZOP00399C 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by Proksa. 
Mayor Hartz noted that this is located in the Planned Business District and this will be converted into rooming areas.  
 
Straube arrived at 6:45 p.m.  
 
The floor plan for the property was discussed and noted that the commercial area will be used as an art gallery. Skates 
noted that this is an appropriate use for the zoning classification.  
 
Motion carried 7-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R51 authorizing the issuance of a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by 
Brian Dalton, 353 S. Lake St., Grayslake, IL 60030, to allow Commercial Indoor Lodging at 406 Wells St. The property is 
located at 406 Wells St., situated in Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district Tax Key No. ZOP00353 
Motion by Skates to approve and to include all affirmative findings of fact, and staff recommendations, second by Proksa. 
Skates noted that this would allow for 365 days of rental that differs from the previous PIP that was approved in 2013. 
Skates then stated that this PIP shall follow the tourist rooming house ordinance. Motion carried 7-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding City of Lake Geneva Mayor and Common Council Letter of Support for the Geneva Lake 
Shore Path as a “Great Place in Wisconsin” to be submitted by City Planner Mike Slavney 
Motion by Halverson to approve, second by Skates. Mayor Hartz explained that the “Great Place in Wisconsin” is a 
planning dedication and that the City Planner has agreed to submit this on the City’s (and surrounding municipalities’) 
behalf. Motion carried 7-0. 



June 24, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 4 of 4 

Mayoral Appointments 
Discussion/Action regarding Mayoral Appointment of Chuck Saul to the City of Lake Geneva Police & Fire Commission 
with a term to expire May 1, 2024 
Motion by Skates to approve, second by Hedlund. No discussion. Motion carried 7-0. 
  
Discussion/Action regarding Mayoral Appointment of Sarah McConnell to the Avian Committee with a term to expire 
May 1, 2021 
Motion by Hedlund to approve, second by Proksa. No discussion. Motion carried 7-0. 
 
Adjournment 
Motion by Hedlund to adjourn the meeting of the Common Council, second by Dunn. Motion carried 7-0. The meeting 
adjourned at 6:57 p.m. 
 



 
Original License: 
Natalie Barry 
Heather Woodard 
Cassidy Parker 
James Steele 
Bethany Brown 
Rachel Lech 
Heather Woodard 
Kimberly Ferguson 
Kenna Pospisil 
Veronica Schlitter 
 
 
 
Renewal Operator: 
Leonard Jegerski 
Sue Spencer 
Lindsey Lohry 
Peggy Zabler 
Gina Nocer 
Hannah Schultz 
Cherlyn Steadman 
Gayle Krahn 
Charles Phinisee 
Kimberly Kurowski 
Cindy Gale 
Freda Pryga 
Denise Bader 
Ashley Principato 
Laura Dye  
Jane Andreas 
Jay McNulty 
Shelby Fry 
Kirsten Lawless 
David Agnew Hofmann 
Douglas Smith 
Candice Jasper 
Kaitlyn Tromer 
Tristan Levy 
Steven Spans 
Nancy Cherney 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 































Ordinance 19-10   Page 1 of 3 
 

 

ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

An ordinance amending subsections (a) and (c ) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child Safety Zones, and 
Repealing Subsection (d) of Section 50-202, Residency near Child Safety Zones, Section 50-203, Loitering, and 
Section 50-204, Exceptions to Loitering of Article V, Child Safety Zones of Chapter 50, Offenses and 
Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Relating to amending the 
distance for Child Safety Zones within the City of Lake Geneva, Prohibitions against residency by sexually 
violent criminals, and loitering near child safety zones 

 
Committee 

 
N/A 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 19-10 First Reading :   
Second Reading : 

June 24, 2019 
July 8, 2019 

 
The City of Lake Geneva Common Council does ordain as follows: 
 

 
1. That Subsection (a) of Section 50-202, “Residency Near Child Safety Zones,” of Article IV, Child 

Safety Zones, of Chapter 50, OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the City of the 
Municipal Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
Sec. 50-202. Residency Near Child Safety Zones. 
 

(a) A Child Safety Zone is hereby created in the following locations, and an offender shall not reside within 
two thousand one thousand (2000 1000) feet of real property that supports or upon which there exists 
any of the following uses: 

 
1. Any facility for children; 
2. A public park, parkway, parkland, park facility; 
3. A public swimming pool;  
4. A public library; 
5. A public beach; 
5. A recreational trail; 
6. A public playground; 
7. A school for children; 
8. Athletic fields used by children;  
9. A daycare center; 
10. Venetian Festival held annually in August of each year and sponsored by the Lake Geneva 

Jaycees. 
11. Any specialized school for children, including, but not limited to, a gymnastics academy, dance 

academy or music school; or 
12. Aquatic facilities open to the public. 

 
 

 



Ordinance 19-10   Page 2 of 3 
 

2. That Subsection (c), Residency restriction exceptions of Section 50-202, “Residency Near Child 
Safety Zones,” of Article IV, Child Safety Zones, of Chapter 50, OFFENSES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

(c) Residency Restriction Exceptions. An offender residing within Two Thousand One Thousand (2,000 
1000) feet of real property that supports or upon which there exists any of the uses enumerated in 
subsection (a) of this section does not commit a violation of this chapter if any of the following apply: 

 
1. The offender is required to serve a sentence or is otherwise involuntarily required to reside in a jail, 

prison, juvenile facility, or other correctional institution or mental facility. 
 

2. The offender has established a residence prior to the effective date of the ordinance codified in this 
chapter. 

 
3. The use enumerated in subsection (a) of this section began after the offender established a 

residence. 
 

4. The offender is a minor or ward under guardianship.   
 

3.  That Subsection (d) of Section 50-202, “Residency Near Child Safety Zones,” of Article IV, Child 
Safety Zones, of Chapter 50, OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the Municipal 
Code of the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin is hereby repealed: 

                                                                                                                    
(d) In addition to and notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to subsection (c) of this section, no 

offender, who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and/or crime against children, shall be 
permitted to reside in the City of Lake Geneva and no supervised release of such Wisconsin Statute 
Chapter 980 sexually violent person shall be established in the city of Lake Geneva unless such 
offender was domiciled in the city of Lake Geneva at the time of the offense resulting in the offender's 
most recent conviction for committing the sexually violent offense and/or crime against children.  
 

4. That Subsection (d) of Section 50-203, Loitering of Article IV, Child Safety Zones, of Chapter 50, 
OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake 
Geneva, Wisconsin is hereby repealed: 

 
 

Sec. 50-203. Loitering. 
 
(a) It is unlawful for any person defined as an offender pursuant to Section 50-201 to loiter or prowl in the 

locations enumerated in Section 50-202(a) in a place, at a time, or a manner not usual for law-abiding 
individuals under circumstances that warrant alarm for the safety of persons or property in the vicinity. 
 

(b) Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether such alarm is warranted is 
the fact that the actor takes flight upon appearance of a peace officer, refuses to identify 
himself/herself or manifestly endeavors to conceal himself/herself or any object. Unless flight by the 
actor or other circumstances make it impracticable, a peace officer shall prior to any arrest for an 
offense under this section, afford the actor an opportunity to dispel any alarm which would otherwise 
be warranted, by requesting him/her to identify himself/herself and explain his/her presence and 
conduct at the locations enumerated in Section 50-202(a). No person shall be convicted of an offense 
under this section if the peace officer did not comply with the preceding sentence, or if it appears at 



Ordinance 19-10   Page 3 of 3 
 

trial that the explanation given by the actor was true and, if believed by the peace officer at the time, 
would have dispelled the alarm.  
 

5. That Section 50-203, Exceptions to Loitering of Article IV, Child Safety Zones, of Chapter 50, 
OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the Municipal Code of the City of Lake 
Geneva, Wisconsin is hereby repealed: 

 
Sec. 50-204. Exceptions to Loitering. 
 
The previous section shall not apply where the actor was accompanied by his/her parent, guardian or other 
adult person having his/her care, custody or control, or where that actor was exercising first amendment 
rights protected by the United States Constitution or Wisconsin Constitution, including freedom of speech, 
the free exercise of religion and the right of assembly. 
 

6. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage by a majority vote of the members-elect of the Common 
Council and publication/posting as required by law. 

 
Approved by the City of Lake Geneva Common Council on this 8th July, 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
  Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 

 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 

 
 
 
 
 



 1 

    

 SCHEDULE OF FEES  
   CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WISCONSIN 

 
The City of Lake Geneva may retain overpayments of taxes, fees, licenses, and similar 

charges when the overpayment is $2 or less, unless such refund is specifically requested by the 
remitter. 
 

LICENSES & PERMITS 
  
           Temporary Retailer’s $10.00 Each 
           Provisional/Temp. Operator  (60 days) $15.00 each 
           Operator- 1 Year License (First Time Applicants)  $50.00  

 
           Operator- 2 Year License (Renewal) $75.00 
           Class A Liquor $500.00  
           Class A Beer $100.00 
           Class C Wine $100.00 
           Class B Liquor (Quota License) $500.00 
           Class B Beer $100.00 
           Reserve Class B Liquor $10,000.00 
           Change of Agent $10.00 
           Publication Fee $25.00 

Extension of Premises $25.00 
ANNEXATION FILING FEE – DUE UPON PETITION $200.00 
AMUSEMENTS  
           Coin Operated music machine/juke box $20.00 per machine 
ASSESSMENT REQUEST LETTER              $35.00 each 
BANNER PERMIT $1.00 per banner per day of display 
BUSINESS LICENSE $25.00 Annual 
           Late fee after July 1 $20.00 (in addition to license fee) 
CAT LICENSE  
           Not Spayed/Neutered $8.00 Annual 
              Spayed/Neutered $4.00 Annual 
              Late fee after April 1, or 30 days after adoption    
            of new animal if adoption occurs after April 1 

$5.00 (in addition to license fee) 

DOG LICENSE  
           Not Spayed/Unneutered $30.00 Annual 
            Spayed/Neutered $15.00 Annual 
              Late fee after April 1, or 30 days after adoption of  
           new animal if adoption occurs after April 1 

$5.00 (in addition to license fee) 

BOWLING ALLEY $20.00 per lane 
BILLIARDS OR POOL TABLE $40.00 per table 
CARRIAGE  COMPANY LICENSE $50.00 Annual 
           Each Additional Carriage $25.00 
CLOSING OUT SALE $25.00 event 

Resolution 19-R53 
The Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva does hereby establish the 

following revised schedule of fees, effective July 8, 2019 



 2 

CIGARETTE/TOBACCO LICENSE * STATUTORY $100.00 Annual 
CREAMERY PERMIT $50.00 
DIRECT SELLERS PERMIT $50.00 nonrefundable application fee 
EVENT PERMIT (PER POLICY)  
      PUBLIC ASSEMBLY PERMIT Non-profit organization: No charge 

For-profit organization: $25 per day 
      BLOCK PARTIES OR GAZEBO USE (1 hour Photo Session in Gazebo in 
Flat Iron Park) 

Non-profit organization: No charge 
For-profit organization: $75 

      TIER 1 EVENT Non-profit organization: No charge 
For-profit organization: $250 

      TIER 2 EVENT Non-profit organization: No charge 
For-profit organization: $500 

MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT  
           Investigation $50.00 Annual 
           Transfer $50.00 
MOBILE HOME PARK LICENSE $100.00 Annual 
PARADE PERMITS $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
BASEBALL TOURNAMENT PERMIT FEE – VETERAN’S PARK $1,000 Security Deposit 
     Friday Rental $150.00 
     Saturday Rental $300.00 
     Sunday Rental $300.00 
PARKING STICKERS  
           Resident & Non-Resident Residence Owners  
           – Lasts 2 years (even)  – 2 hours free parking 

4 free per residence 
each additional $25.00 

           Business Owner 
           – 2 hours free parking 

  $25.00 Lasts 2 years (even) 
$25.00 for 1 year (effective Jan. 1 2017) 

$50.00 (effective Jan. 1, 2018) 
           Walworth County Resident 
            - 2 hours free parking 

$160.00 Lasts 2 years (even) 
$80.00 for 1 year 

           Parking Lot Permit $400.00 Annual   
PARKING RATES  
           Parking Stall Rate for stalls on Wrigley Dr.,  
          10 stalls at the boat launch, stalls on lower Center St.  
          south of Main St., stalls on lower Broad St. south of  
          Main St., 700 & 800 blocks of Main St., and Center St. 
          Parking Lot  
          All other Parking Stalls Rate 

$2.00 per hour 
 
 
 
 

$1.00 per hour 
           Parking Meter Bags/Contractor Permits $10.00 administrative fee 

$25.00 deposit per locked bag 
March 1 – Nov 14: $20.00 daily per bag 

Nov 15 – Feb 29: $10.00 daily per bag 
PARKING TICKETS     
           Expired Stall (Over 2 hours; Over 5 hours; Over 25 min.) $20.00 
           More than 3 motorcycles $20.00 
           Improper Use or Display of Sticker $20.00 
           Backed into parking stall $25.00 
           Compact Car Only $25.00 
           No Parking Zone $25.00 
           Over the Line $25.00 



 3 

           Parking by fire hydrant $40.00 
           Handicap Zone $150.00 
           Parking with Trailer or Trailer alone in Sage Lot D $25.00 
           Parking any Vehicle without a Trailer or with an  
           occupied Trailer in Boat Launch Parking Lot F  

$25.00 

LATE FEES     
           Expired Stall After 10 days $40.00 
           More than 3 motorcycles After 10 days $40.00 
           Backed into parking stall After 10 days $50.00 
           Compact Car Only After 10 days $50.00 
           No Parking Zone After 10 days $50.00 
           Parking by fire hydrant $80.00 
           Handicap Zone  $300.00 
           Second Collection Letter Fee $6.00 
           Vehicle Suspension Release Fee $20.00 
  
PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS * STATUTORY  
           Photocopies 
           (can include hourly wage for gathering data) 

$0.25 per page 

RADON TEST KIT $10.00 
REISSUE CHECK FEE $25.00 
RETURNED CHECK FEE (NSF) $30.00 each 
ROOM TAX LICENSE $10.00 Annual 
SHOWS, CIRCUS, CARNIVALS  
           Circus $50.00 per day 
           Tent Show – Day 1 $15.00 
           Tent Show – Each Additional Day $10.00 
           All Other $2.00 per day 
SIDEWALK CAFÉ PERMIT $15.00 per seat Annual 
  
STREET USE PERMIT $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
           Up to two days                         $40.00 
           More than two days $100.00 
TAX EXEMPT REPORT FILING (every other year) $20.00 
              Late Fee $20.00 
TAXI CAB COMPANY LICENSE $50.00 Annual 
           Each Additional Car $25.00 
TAXI CAB DRIVER LICENSE $25.00 Annual 
THEATER LICENSE  
           Up to 1,200 seats $200.00 
           Over 1,200 seats $275.00 
TOURIST ROOMING/SHORT-TERM RENTAL LICENSE $2,000.00 Annual 
TRAPPING PERMIT $25.00 Annual 
CITY HALL MEETING ROOM RENT                $25 per event 

 
 
 

LAKEFRONT 
BEACH  



 4 

(Open Memorial Day thru Labor Day –  
  no glass containers allowed) 
           Children age 6 and under Free 
           Children age 7-12                        $4.00 per day 
           Ages 13 to Adult                         $8.00 per day 
Resident Beach Tags (Maximum 6 per Household) $3.00 per tag 
Seasonal Pass Adult 13 and up                      $70.00 per year 
Seasonal Pass Child 7-12               $40.00 per year 
     Beach Bathrooms – Opening/Cleaning Hourly Rate 
BOAT LAUNCH PERMIT  
     One-Time Launch Resident Non-Resident 
           Non-Trailer Non-Motor $7.00 $8.00 
           Less than 20 feet $10.00 $11.00 
           20 feet to 25 feet 11 inches $14.00 $21.00 
           26 feet and over $16.00 $24.00 
     Season Launch Permit  Resident Non-Resident 
           Non-Trailer Non-Motor $70.00 $80.00 
           Less than 20 feet $100.00 $110.00 
           20 feet to 25 feet 11 inches $140.00 $210.00 
           26 feet and over $160.00 $240.00 
COMMERCIAL BOAT LAUNCH PERMIT $1,000 per year (unlimited launches) 
ANNUAL WEST END PIER SLIP, LAGOON SLIP, BUOY, DINGHY, 
KAYAK AND PADDLEBOARD RACK LEASE PERMITS  

Rates may change on an annual basis by the 
Common Council 

      WEST-END PIER 24’ SLIP  
             Resident $1,774.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $2,661.00 
             Non-Resident $3,547.00 
      WEST-END PIER 26’ SLIP  
             Resident $2,070.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $3,015.00 
             Non-Resident $3,842.00 
      LAGOON SLIP & BUOY   
             Resident $764.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $1,272.00 
             Non-Resident $1,774.00 
      DINGHY, KAYAK, & PADDLEBOARD RACKS  
             Resident $131.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $191.00 
             Non-Resident $262.00 
BUOY/SLIP RATES ESTABLISHED ANNUALLY BY RESOLUTION  $30.00 per year 
           Season Launch Pass for Kayaks, Canoes and 
           Paddleboards (non-trailer, non-motor) 

 

RIVIERA RENTALS (ALL CONFERENCES/CONVENTIONS & WEDDINGS HELD 
NOVEMBER 15 THROUGH APRIL 30) 
           Maximum attendees is 380 

 

           Security Deposit  $1,000.00    
           Resident Rental Fee  (Friday, Saturday, Sunday)    $2,500.00 
           Non-Resident Rental Fee  (Friday, Saturday, Sunday) $3,000.00 



 5 

           Resident & Non-Resident Weekday Rental Fee  
          (Monday - Thursday) 

$500.00 

           Not-for-Profit Group Rental Fee $400.00 
           Per Hour Set Up Fee $20.00 per hour 
           Security Guards for Event (2) Additional Renter Expense - Hourly Rate 
           Extra Security Guard over 250 attendees Additional Renter Expense - Hourly Rate 
RIVIERA RENTALS (WEDDINGS HELD MAY THROUGH NOVEMBER 15) 
           Maximum attendees is 380 

 

           Security Deposit $1,000.00 
           Resident Rental Fee (Monday - Thursday) $950.00 
           Resident Rental Fee (Friday & Sunday- Non-Holiday) $2,500.00 
           Resident Rental Fee (Saturday) $3,000.00 
           Non-Resident Rental Fee (Monday- Thursday) $1,250.00 
           Non-Resident Rental Fee (Friday & Sunday- Non-Holiday) $3,400.00 
           Non- Resident Rental Fee (Saturday) $3,900.00 
  

 

BUILDING & ZONING  

Building Residential $60.00 
Commercial $100.00 

Minimum permit fee for all building permits  

 Residential Construction: $0.31 / sq. ft. 
New Single Family Construction 

$1,000.00 Minimum 
            One & Two family & attached garage (new,  
            addition and alterations) 

 $0.25 / sq. ft. 

            Accessory buildings & garages $0.15 / sq. ft., or $60.00 Minimum 

            Decks  $60.00 

            Roofing and Siding  

Commercial Construction: $0.31 / sq. ft. 
New Commercial Construction 

 $1,500.00 Minimum 
Residences - Apartments, Three family & over, Row Housing, 
Multiple Family Dwellings, Institutional (new, addition and 
alterations) 

$0.30/ sq. ft. 

Local Business, Office Building (new, addition or alteration)  $0.30 / sq. ft. 

Manufacturing or Industrial (new, addition or alteration) $10.00 / $1,000.00 valuation 

Commercial , structures, alterations, residing, reroofing, 
repairs, where square footage cannot be calculated 

 

Plan Examination: $150.00 

            One and Two Family Residence $150.00 plus $10.00 /unit 
 

            Apartments, Three Family Residence, Row 
            Housing, Multiple family Building 
            State Approved Plans 

$350.00 
 



 6 

Commercial, Industrial, Institutional & Additions 
            State Approved Plans 

$125.00/ Plan 

            Heating Plans, Energy Calculations, or Lighting 
            Plans submitted separately 

$75.00 

 Additions, Alterations to 1 & 2 Family Dwellings $40.00 

            Accessory building over 240 sq. ft., and decks for 
            1 & 2 family dwellings 

$45.00 

Wisconsin Uniform Building Permit Seal $60.00 
$100.00 

Occupancy Permit – Residential 
Commercial and Industrial 

$75.00 

Temporary (6 months or less Commercial only) $200.00 Commercial  
$50 Residential 

Permit Renewal (6 month extension or less)  

Heating and Air Conditioning: $3.00/ 100 sq. ft. of conditioned area 
with a minimum fee of $60.00 

Heating and Air Conditioning Distribution Systems  $125.00 first unit, $60.00 each additional 
unit. 

 
$60.00 / unit 

 
$150.00/ unit, up to and including 

150,000 BTU units. Additional fee of 
$20.00 / each 50,000 BTU fraction thereof 

up to a maximum of $900.00 / unit. 
New Residential Heating 
 
 
Replacement Residential Heating 
 
Commercial New or Replacement Heating 

$60.00 / unit 
 

Residential Air Conditioning – Other than Wall Units (new or 
replacement) 
 

 
$150.00/ unit up to 5tons or 60,000 

BTU's. Additional fee of $20.00 each ton 
or 12,000 BTU's or fraction thereof up to 

a maximum of $900.00 / unit 
Commercial Air Conditioning - Other than Wall Units (new or 
replacement) 

$60.00 / unit 

Permanently installed Wall unit (example – Fireplace, wall pack) $75.00  

Commercial/Industrial Exhaust Hoods and Exhaust Systems  

Plumbing Permit: $15.00/ fixture, drain or device, 
 $60.00 Minimum 

Fixture Count $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main, $60.00 Minimum   

 
Water Main $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   

private water main, / $9.00 per 
manhole$60.00 Minimum 



 7 

Sanitary Sewer $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main / $12.00 per manhole 

or basin $60.00 Minimum 
Storm Sewer $100.00 

Exterior Grease Trap  

Electrical: $60.00 minimum.  
 

Residential Minimum $100.00/ Service First 200 Amps,  
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

New Residential Service $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main,  $60.00 minimum & 

/ $9.00 per manhole. 
Sanitary Sewer $100.00/ Service 

Residential Service Update $50.00/ Panel 

Residential Sub-Panel $75.00 (includes gas piping) 

Residential Generator $100.00 up to 200 Amps. 
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Temporary Electrical Service $150.00 Minimum 

Commercial Electrical Minimum $150.00/ Inspection 

Commercial Electrical Re-Inspections $150.00 First 200 Amps,  
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Commercial Service ( New or Update) $50.00 First 100 Amps,  
$10.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Commercial Sub-Panel $150.00 (included gas piping) 

Commercial Generator $1.00/ Device, $100.00 Minimum 

Commercial Low Voltage $100.00 per site 

Commercial Exterior Light Fixture Replacement $0.10 / sq. ft. of area served,   
$60.00 minimum. 

 
$0.10 / sq. ft. of area served,  

$150.00 minimum. 
Residential Electrical Permit - for minor installations with fees 
not exceeding $5.00, the permit fee may be waived by the 
inspector.  
Commercial Electrical Permit - for minor installations with 
fees not exceeding $5.00, the permit fee may be waived by the 
inspector. 

 

Erosion control fees: $125.00 / lot 

            New One and Two Family Buildings $50.00 

            One and Two Family Additions and Accessory 
            Structures 

 $175.00/Building, plus $5.00/1,000 sq. 
ft. disturbed lot area up to $2,000.00 max. 

            Multi-Family Residential, Commercial, Industrial  
            and Institutional 

$40.00 

            Other  

Zoning $60.00 



 8 

Zoning Permit $60.00 

Certificate of Occupancy (per Section 98-909) $60.00 

Temporary Use (per Section 98-906) $50.00 

Zoning Verification Letter $60.00 minimum or $0.35/ sq ft of sign 
area 

Sign Permit (per Section 98-907) $125.00 (1-2 family) 
$250.00 (all others) 

Early Start Permit to start construction $75.00 administrative fee/ tank for 
installation or removal 

Fuel Tanks $100.00 ( One or two family residences 
and accessory Structure over 250 sq ft) 

Wrecking or Razing- Building Inspector may waive the fee if 
the structure is condemned 

$350.00 

Commercial/ Industrial Razing $250.00 plus $0.03/ sq ft 

Moving buildings over public right-of-ways $150.00/ inspection report 

Special Inspections and Reports $400.00 

Text Amendment (per Section 98-902) $400.00 

Zoning Map Amendment (per Section 98-903) For each new Residential Lot Created: 
$400.00 

For each new Commercial Lot Created: 
$200.00 

Certified Survey Map (CSM) $150.00 

Plat Renewal $400.00 
$100.00 

Conditional Use (per Section 98-905) $400.00 

Site Plan (per Section 98-908) $400.00 

Variance (per Section 98-910) $150.00 

Interpretation (per Section 98-911) $400.00 

Appeal (per Section 98-912) $750.00 

PD Zoning Map Amendment (Includes 1 PIP Review) $400.00 

PIP Review $10.00 

Filing or Recording fee with City Clerk, plus actual recording 
fee 

 

• Triple Fees: Upon failure to obtain a permit 
before work on a building has been started, 
except in emergency cases, the total fee shall be 
triple the total fees charged. 

 

NOTE: Fees shall be charged on gross square footage defined 
as follows: 
The exterior dimensions, including attached garage and each 
floor level 

 

NOTE: In determining costs, all construction shall be included 
with the exception of heating, air conditioning, electrical or 
plumbing work. 

 



 9 

NOTE: All fee amounts shall be rounded up to the next full 
dollar amount. 

 

NOTE: An additional fee for plan review may be assessed at the time of application for renewal of the 
permit. 

* Base fee may be modified by Subsection (4) of Section 98-935, Fees of the Zoning Code 

 
CEMETERY FEES $675.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays (Full Burial) $800.00 
Opening Grave - Saturdays (Full Burial) $450.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays (Cremation) $525.00 
Opening Grave – Saturdays (Cremation) $100.00 extra charge 
Two cremations buried in same grave at one time $200.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays - Baby Under 1 Year   $300.00 
Opening Grave – Saturdays - Baby Under 1 Year  $650.00 
Grave (50% Perpetual Care) $400.00 
Grave – Single Cremation (50% Perpetual Care) $500.00 
Grave – Double Cremation (50% Perpetual Care)  $1,200.00 

$1,000.00 bottom row 
Columbarium Niche (includes opening & inurnment)  
($200 Perpetual Care) 

$150.00 additional 

2nd Inurnment if Niche allows for two $240.00 
Niche Door Inscriptions $75.00 
Frost Charges (November 1 to March 15) $50.00 
Stake Out Fee for Foundations $0.40 per square inch 
Foundation Charges 20% of Gross Receipts 

Use of Cemetery for Functions 

POLICE DEPARTMENT FEES  
FINGERPRINTING $15.00 
          City Residents  

$15.00 
          Individuals employed in business in city limits  
          or working for city licensed business 

$60.00 

          Non-Residents 

PUBLIC WORKS FEES  
CONSTRUCTION PERMIT FEE  
          Curb Cut/Driveway Approach Fee $25.00 
          Right-of-Way Excavation Fee $25.00 
          Storm Sewer Connection Fee $25.00 
          Sanitary Sewer Connection Fee $25.00 
Special brush, limb and refuse pick-up $24.00 per 15 minutes 
Dumpster Delivery $50.00 per dumpster 
Dumpster Pick-up $50.00 plus additional landfill fees 

 
 
 
 



 10 

 
FIRE DEPARTMENT FEES 

Fees for Apparatus and Personnel 1 hour minimum 
and fractions 

thereafter 
on hourly rates 
unless stated 

otherwise 
Chief, Deputy Chief or Assistant Chief $26.00/hr. 
Fire and EMS Personnel $26.00/hr. 
Engine/Squad $550.00/hr. 
Truck (aerial apparatus) $875.00/hr. 
Brush Truck $300.00/hr. 
Air Boat $300.00/hr. 
Technical Rescue and Utility $500.00/hr. 
Chief, Deputy Chief, Assistant Chief, or Command Vehicle $50.00/hr. 
Utility $50.00/hr. 
Ambulance $270.00/hr. 
Paramedic Intercept Fee (Option a OR b)  

a.  Flat Rate Billed to Requesting Municipality $400.00 
b.  Shared Revenue from Requesting Municipality 50% Monies 

Received 
EMS First Responder and Transport Fees   

Residents Fee $150.00 per call 
Non-Resident Fee $200.00 per call 

Ambulance Transport Fee Schedule   
Advanced Life Support Base Rate $918.89 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (ALS2) $1010.47 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (Intercept) $918.89 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (Intercept ALS2) $1010.47 
Equal Level Staffing Mutual Aid $300.00 
Basic Life Support Base Rate $700.00 
Mileage Charge $20.00 per mile 
Supplies used fee   

Defibrillation $100.00 
EKG Monitoring $150.00 
Spinal Immobilization $150.00 
I/O Needle & Associated Supplies $200.00 
Airway Placement $150.00 
Oxygen & Associated Supplies $100.00 
IV & Associated Supplies $150.00 
CPAP Disposable $150.00 



 11 

Epi 1:1,000 $35.00 
Nitro Tabs $22.00 
Albuterol/Ventolin $30.00 
Glucagon $211.00 
Narcan $48.00 
ASA $32.00 
Dextrose 25gms/50cc $32.00 
Glucose $10.50 
CO2 Monitor Nasal/Tube $40.00 
Oil Dry $10.00 per bag 
Class A, B, or AB Firefighting Foam $30.00/gallon 
BLS Supplies Used $75.00 
ALS Supplies Used $125.00 

Paramedic Medications  
Adenocard $31.00 
Amiodorone $125.00 
Atropine $37.00 
Calcium Chloride $43.00 
Dextrose 5% $32.00 
Diltiazem $9.00 
Diphenhydramine $5.00 
Epi 1:10,000 $16.00 
Etomidate $94.00 
Heparin $32.00 
Ketamine $54.00 
Lidocaine $36.00 
Magnesium Sulfate $7.00 
Methylprednisolone $101.00 
Metoprolol $9.00 
Midazolam $68.00 
Norepinephrine $22.00 
Ondansteron $28.00 
Sodium Bicarbinate $37.00 
Sublimaze $5.00 
Succinylcholine $41.00 
Clopidogral $19.00 
Dopamine $97.00 
Hydromorphone $10.00 
Hydroxycobalamin $1270.00 
Metoclopromide $5.00 
Morphine Sulfate $56.00 
Trananexamic Acid $96.00 

Fees Relating To Permits Required  



 12 

           Fire pit burn permit 
$15.00 each fire or 

$50.00 yr 
           Fireworks permit $50.00 
           Burning permits $50.00 
           Key box processing fee $10.00 
           Operational Permit $75.00 
Fees Relating To Fire Protection Systems  
Basic system Review  
Fee is charged for systems without hydraulic calcs 

                    $250 

Fire Sprinkler, Fire Control and/or Fire Suppression system plan 
review with one set of hydraulic calculations.  (Fee is charged for 
each separate floor and /or area of building per system and 
review.) 

$300.00 

Verifications of  Additional Hydraulic Calcs 
(fee is charged for each additional set of hydraulic calculations 
required by the AHJ) 

$175.00 

Additional review of same system.  (Fee applies to all re-
submittals.) 

       $300 

 Site inspection during installation 
2 hour minimum Note: system may not be concealed prior to 
inspection.  Inspections are required for all systems. 

$75.00/hr. 

Modifications to existing systems  
   Min. fee per system without hydraulic calcs $75.00 
   Fee per sprinkler up to 15 sprinklers w/o calcs $20.00 ea. 
   Fee per sprinkler up to 15 with calcs $200.00 
   Fire Pumps per review $300.00 
Fire prevention inspection fee schedule:  
Residential Building Type:  

   4 to 36 units 
 $10 per unit per 

year 
   37 to 60 units  $400 per year 
   61 to 99 units  $450 per year 
   100 units and above  $500 per year 
Commercial:  
   Under 1,000 square feet  $50 
   1,000 to 4,999 square feet  $100 
   5,000 to 24,999 square feet  $150 
   25,000 to 99,000 square feet  $200 
   100,000 to 174,999 square feet  $400 
   175,000 to 249,999 square feet  $700 
Industrial:  
   Under 5,000 square feet  $100 
   5,000 to 24,999 square feet  $200 
   25,000 to 99,000 square feet  $300 
   100,000 to 174,999 square feet  $500 
   175,000 to 349,999 square feet  $800 
Additional conditions:  



 13 

(a) The fee for hotels and motels shall be the same as for 
residential property, except that the fee shall be calculated on a 
per room basis. 
(b) Square footage refers to the total floor area of any building or 
structure. 
(c) Inspection fees shall be charged to the property owner. Any 
fees unpaid by November 1 of each year shall be entered upon the 
tax roll as a special charge against the property and all 
proceedings in relation to the collection, return, and sale of the 
property for delinquent real estate taxes, shall apply to the 
inspection fee. 
Sprinkler system underground mains  
   0-200 feet $75.00 
   201-999 feet $125.00 
   1000 or more                 $300 
Fire hose standpipe connections $15.00 each 
Other fire protection systems (hood, wet & dry chem.)                    $300 
Fire alarm systems per control panel $250.00 
Fire Alarm system manual pull stations, initiating devices; this 
includes smoke, heat, flame, ionization, photoelectric detectors, 
water flow devices and all monitoring devices per review. 

$50.00 up to 3 
$10 each additional 

Witness of all required tests – 2 hour minimum           $150/hr. 
Inspection during installation $75.00/hr. 
Fire protection Consulting on systems and or for occupancies or 
permits 

$75.00/hr. 
1 Hour Minimum 

 
Adopted this 8th day of July, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________ 
Thomas Hartz, Mayor                                     Date 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 
       
 

https://www.ecode360.com/14136054#14136054
https://www.ecode360.com/14136055#14136055
https://www.ecode360.com/14136056#14136056


 

May 22, 2019 

  

 

RE: RFP for Underwater Diving and Surveying of the Riviera Seawall and Pier 

 

 

Mr. Dave Nord; ICMA-CM 

City Administrator 

City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin  

626 Geneva St. 

Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

 

Dear Mr. Nord, 

 

Collins Engineers, Inc. (Collins) is a pioneer in the field of underwater engineering, and in 

particular, the use of Professional Engineer-Divers for inspection work. Collins has been 

performing underwater facility evaluations since 1979, including work with the US Navy, the 

US Coast Guard, and numerous other public and private sector clients. As locally based 

experts in the field, Collins’ Engineer-Divers are in a unique position to immediately assess 

the condition of the Riviera Seawall and Pier.  

 

Please find Collins’ proposal to inspect, document, and report on the condition of the Riviera 

Seawall and Pier in Lake Geneva, WI attached with this letter. The contents of the attached 

proposal letter spell out the Scope of Services we would provide, Past Projects with 

References, Qualifications for our staff, and our Professional Fees. 

 

We acknowledge that Addendum 1 to the Request for Proposal has been posted and have 

incorporated its information into our proposal.  

 

Again, I appreciate your time and consideration. Please let me know if you have any 

particular concerns or would like to discuss further. I can be reached at 414.236.1644 or via 

email at rforsyth@collinsengr.com. 

 

        Respectfully Submitted, 

 

       COLLINS ENGINEERS, INC. 

 

 

 

   

       Roy A Forsyth, P.E. 

       Project Manager 

mailto:rforsyth@collinsengr.com


 

 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED: 

Tasks and deliverables include the following:  

1. Mobilization of crew and equipment to and from the Riviera Building  

2. Coordination with the Harbor Master, City Officials, and other assigned staff  

3. Diving services including crew and equipment for shallow water inspection  

4. Documentation, observations, and report of findings of seawall condition  

5. Penetration probe testing and report of the pier support structure 

 

Safety Precautions and Coordination 

In accordance with OSHA regulations and job site facility rules, the following safety 

precautions will be conducted prior to work commencement: 

a. Collins’ employees will coordinate with on-site staff to obtain proper security 

clearances.   

b. All personnel working on this project will be familiar with the Collins’ Dive Safety 

Plan and a copy will be kept on site.  All divers and backup divers will be certified 

by the Association of Diving Contractors International (ADCI).  

c. A project specific work plan will be developed which includes project requirements 

as well as all emergency notification phone numbers.   

d. Collins’ personnel will conduct an on-site safety meeting to discuss diving 

operations and site specific dangers.   

e. Local Coast Guard and Police units will be notified of the inspection, and diving 

procedures will be broadcast in the local notice to mariners report.   

f. A marine radio will be maintained and monitored on channel 16 during the 

inspection to ensure that divers do not interfere with the normal operation of 

shipping vessels.  In addition, a dive flag will be displayed at all times while 

workers are in the water.   

Proximity to the Site 

Collins’ staff for this project are located in our Milwaukee, WI office and are near Lake 

Geneva. This allows us to mobilize quickly and efficiently to the site. 

 

Diving Services 

Collins will conduct our inspection work in accordance with the ASCE Underwater 

Investigations Standard Practice Manual.  For the Seawall, our inspection work will include a 

visual (level I) inspection of 100% of the steel sheeting surface area below water as well as a 

tactile (level II marine growth cleaning) inspection of approximately 10% of the surface area 

in accordance with ASCE recommendations.  This will include one cleaning on each of the 

West, East, and South Seawalls. Ultrasonic thickness measurements of the remaining steel 

section will be obtained at each area of marine growth cleaning.  Vertical concrete faces will 



 

be sounded at regular intervals to determine if the material is sound and if delaminations are 

present. Collis will document areas of defects along with approximate location and limits. 

 

For the Pier support structure, penetration probe testing and sounding will be performed to 

determine the adequacy of the wood piling. This will include the driven piles for Piers 1, 2, 

and 3 along with the horizontal timber frames that support the boardwalks. Areas of 

excessive penetration and softness will be documented. The penetration probe testing is 

typically performed with a flat head screwdriver to locate and measure the depth of rotted 

wood. It does not provide information on the capacity of the piling although follow-up 

calculations based on the remaining sound material can be performed. Wood decay is 

typically found either at the mudline or within the splash zone where the material alternates 

between wet and dry conditions.  

 

Report 

The deliverables for this project will include the following: 

a. a letter report of findings and deficiencies, 

b. photographs of noteworthy deficiencies, and  

c. a list of any suggested repair recommendations.   

 

II. PAST PROJECTS 

The following are some example projects that highlight Collins’ experience with conducting 

waterfront and underwater inspection services. References for each project are included and 

we encourage the City to contact them regarding our past work. 

MILWAUKEE POST OFFICE SEAWALL INSPECTION 
Milwaukee, WI 

Collins was selected to provide above and below water 

inspection of 1,600-ft of steel sheet pile dock wall. The 

inspection will consist of a visual and tactile examination of the 

wall specifically noting deformities, bulges, holes, penetrations, 

and unlocked sheeting. Collins will perform ultrasonic thickness 

gauging at approximately 100-ft intervals. The gaugings will be 

taken on the web and flange at the channel bottom, mid depth, 

and near the water surface. Acoustic imaging of the wall will 

also be provided. 

 

Owner 

R2 Companies 

Contact Information 

Gary Stoltz 

312.300.2382 

gstoltz@r2.me 

Contract Amount / 

Number 

$15,000 / #60-11689 

Schedule 

2019 

  



 

LAKE GENEVA RIVIERA SEAWALL INSPECTION 
Lake Geneva, WI 

The project included 

the above water 

inspection of 

approximately 

200-ft of seawall 

along the Lake 

Geneva Riviera 

Building.  An 

above-water visual 

inspection was conducted by two Engineers-Divers. The 

condition of the wall below the water level was assessed to the 

best ability from above the water level. Investigation of the 

outside of the west seawall was conducted by wading. 

Investigation of the outside of the east seawall was conducted 

via inspection while on top of the adjacent dock. The majority 

of the walls were sounded with a sounding hammer; however, 

some sections of the walls could not be sounded due to 

piping/conduit attached to the wall. A general photographic 

plan view and photographs were submitted. The above water 

inspection report included repair recommendations and 

estimated costs. 

 

Owner 

City of Lake Geneva 

Contact Information 

Daniel Winkler 

262.248.3673 

Contract Amount / 

Number 

$5,000 / #60-07940 

Schedule 

2013  

  



 

DOCKWALL UNDERWATER INSPECTIONS 
Milwaukee, WI 

The project included 

the underwater 

investigation of two 

dockwall locations to 

determine the reason 

for the loss of fill. 

The investigation 

included a visual and 

tactile inspection of 

the dry and 

submerged sections 

of the exposed interior face and exterior face of the dock walls. 

The inspections were centralized around areas where existing 

sinkholes were previously noted to document the cause of the 

loss of fill. The inspection team consisted of two Professional 

Engineer-Divers and one engineer-diver. The team utilized 

commercial SCUBA diving techniques and equipment to 

perform the inspection. A letter summarizing the detailed 

inspection findings of the steel dock wall and timber dock wall 

was submitted. 

 

Owner 

City of Milwaukee 

Contact Information 

Jonathan Thomas 

414.286.0463 

jonathan.thomas@ 

milwaukee.gov 

Contract Amount / 

Number 

$3,400 / #60-08684 

Schedule 

2014 

  



 

Collins was selected 

for an 8th consecutive 

2-year MASTER 

CONTRACT 

for 2018-2019 

UNDERWATER INSPECTIONS 2004-2019 
Various, WI 

The project 

included 

underwater 

inspections 

and 

hydrographic 

surveys of 

more than 600 

bridges 

located 

throughout the State of Wisconsin since 2004. These 

inspections were performed under continuously awarded 

two-year master contract agreements with the Wisconsin 

DOT and included full hydrographic surveys at each bridge 

site. 

 

As part of this contract, Collins also performed pre- and 

post-construction in-depth 3-D acoustic imaging at 5 bridges 

with known scour and underwater concrete deterioration 

issues.  Results from the imaging were utilized to assist with 

developing repair designs, aiding in underwater rehabilitation, 

documenting as-built repair configurations, and calculating 

construction payment quantities.    

 

Collins initial involvement included conducting detailed 

underwater surveys of the project sights prior to construction 

of the scour repairs utilizing multi-beam sonar.  Following the 

successful completion of these projects, Collins prepared and 

moderated a Scour Repair Workshop for the Wisconsin DOT 

that was designed to gain insight from all phases of the 

projects and to learn from the past successes and failures in an 

effort to improve future undertakings. 

 

Owner 

Wisconsin DOT 

Contact Information 

Matthew Coupar 

608.266.5083 

matthew.coupar@dot.wi.gov 

Contract Amount / 

Number 

$206,389 / #60-Various 

Schedule 

2004 – 2019 

  



 

MICHELS DOCKWALL INSPECTION 
Milwaukee, WI 

 The project 

included an 

underwater 

inspection of 

approximately 

1,050-ft of steel 

sheet pile dock 

wall located near 

the intersection of 

1st Street and 

Becher Street 

along the 

Kinnickinnic River in Milwaukee, WI. The underwater 

inspection consisted of a visual and tactile examination of the 

accessible surfaces of the dock wall. A "D" meter was utilized 

to determine the thickness of the steel sheeting at 

approximately 100-ft increments. Collins developed an 

inspection report that included observations, notable defects, 

thickness measurements of the sheeting, and photographic 

documentation of the wall. Collins provided recommendations 

relating to repairs required to restore the original wall function.  

 

Owner 

Michels Corporation 

Contact Information 

Andrew Schmitt 

920.539.4149 

aschmitt@michels.us 

Contract Amount / 

Number 

$5,300 / #60-10984 

Schedule 

2018 

 

  



 

III. QUALIFICATIONS 

Resumes of Collins’ proposed staff, including ADCI certifications, are attached. 

IV. PROFESSIONAL FEES: 

The above-described services will be provided for lump sum fees as follows: 

 

Seawall Survey $ 4,250.00   

Pier Survey  $ 5,250.00 

It must also be noted that mobilization costs were allocated evenly between the two fee 

estimates. If one of the tasks is not performed the fee for the remaining work item will need 

to be adjusted slightly.  



 Roy A. Forsyth, P.E., CWI, C.H. 
Civil/Structural Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 1 

 

Key Qualifications 

Mr. Forsyth is a Civil/Structural Engineer with 18 years of experience performing 
underwater bridge inspections; routine inspections; climbing and rope access 
inspections; construction management; and design of bridges, buildings, and 
waterfront structures.  His focus is on bridge inspection and design, including load 
capacity analyses, load rating, fracture critical inspections, report preparation, and 
making recommendations. Mr. Forsyth has performed over 2,500 underwater 
inspections of bridges. His inspection capabilities are supplemented by being an 
Association of Dive Contractors International (ADCI) certified surface-supplied air 
dive supervisor, and a Bureau of Canadian Dive Contractors (BCDC) certified diver. 

Mr. Forsyth is a certified diver experienced in scuba and surface-supplied air diving 
for over 18 years and has experience in working in extreme conditions including poor 
visibility, high current and confined spaces, extreme cold, extreme depths, and 
extreme elevations.  Mr. Forsyth is also a National Highway Institute Certified 
Instructor and has taught NHI Course 130091 - Underwater Bridge Inspection and 
NHI Course 130091B - Underwater Bridge Repair.

 

Project Experience 

Marine/Waterfront Inspection 

Milwaukee Waterworks, Linnwood Avenue Seawall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – 
Project Manager/Team Leader 
Project included the above and below water inspection of approximately 2,100 feet 
of steel sheetpile wall.   The inspection also included detailed thickness 
measurements, structural analysis, and follow up repair design.   

Milwaukee Water Works Howard Ave. West Clearwell Underwater Inspection, 
Milwaukee WI – Project Manager/Diver 
Project included the structural inspection services pertaining to the interior of the 
Howard Avenue West Clearwell including two pipes.  The purpose of the inspection 
and dye testing is to determine the general structural condition of the Clearwell and 
perform detailed dye testing to identify any noticeable leakage that can be 
detected.  

Milwaukee Water Works Linnwood North Reservoir and Tunnel Underwater 
Inspection, Milwaukee WI – Project Manager/Diver 
Project included the underwater examination of the concrete tunnel (approximately 
118-ft) and one wall (approximately 250-ft) of the North Reservoir at the Linnwood 
Plant. The purpose of the inspection and dye testing was to determine the general 
structural condition of the concrete and perform detailed dye testing to identify any 
noticeable leakage. 

Alaska DOT Ferry Terminal Inspections, Statewide – Project Engineer/Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection at five different facilities located in 
Whittier, Pelican, Chenega Island, and on Metlakata island. The underwater 
inspection consisted of Level I, II, and III inspections from the high-water mark down 
to the channel bottom, the inspection also included cathodic protection 
measurements using a half cell. The inspection duration was six days long and 
covered approximately 1,000 miles of transportation that included the use of 
vehicle, boat, and aircraft logistics.  

 

Education

M.S., Structural Engineering, 
University of Wisconsin – Platteville, 
2010

B.S., Civil Engineering, University of 
Wisconsin – Platteville, 2003 

Years of Experience – 18 

Professional Engineer 

Alaska, Colorado, Connecticut, 
Delaware, Indiana, Iowa, Maryland, 
Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, 
Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, 
South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Virginia, 
Wisconsin, Wyoming, NCEES 

Certifications 

▪ National Society of 
Professional Surveyors 
Certified Hydrographer 

▪ AWS Certified Welding 
Inspector (#07030531) 

▪ ADCI Surface-Supplied Air 
Diving Supervisor (#37931) 

▪ ADCI Entry Level Tender/Diver 
(#33894) 

▪ DCBC Restricted Surface 
Supplied Diver (#20110876) 

▪ PADI Open Water Diver 
(#9908578599) 

▪ Kirby Morgan Dive Systems - 
Helmet and Band Mask 
Operator/User (#I-08305) 

▪ TDI Nitrox Gas Blender 
(#339537) 

▪ TDI Advanced Nitrox Diver 
(#339534) 

▪ Certified Bridge Inspection 
Team Leader:  MnDOT 
(#XB10272), 2016 

▪ Certified Bridge Inspection 
Team Leader:  WisDOT 
(#9534), 2005 

▪ Certified Routine & Fracture 
Critical Bridge Inspection Team 
Leader:  Nebraska, 2015 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Limited Level II 
Ultrasonic Testing, 2015 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Limited Level II 
Magnetic Particle, 2015 

▪ OSHA 30-Hour Safety Course, 
2017 



 Roy A. Forsyth, P.E., CWI, C.H. 
Civil/Structural Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 2 

Pacific Seafood, Puget Sound Atlantic Net Pen Assessments, WA State – 
Engineer/Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection of the submerged components of the 
floating Atlantic Salmon Fish Net Pens Systems located at Hope Island, Rich Passage, 
Cypress Island, and Port Angeles in the Puget Sound. The elements inspected 
included the floating barges and pontoons that support the nets and the various 
anchor lines (chains, shackles, rode lines, Danforth and Pile anchors) that stabilize 
the overall systems.  After inspection, a detailed inspection report was delivered to 
the WA DNR including: component existing condition assessments; extensive 
photographic and video documentation; and renewal/maintenance 
recommendations. 

Washington DNR, Pacific Seafood Net Pen Assessments, WA – Engineer-
Diver/Team Leader 
Project included the above and below water inspection of salmon farm net pen 
anchorage systems for the Port Angeles and Anacortes Facilities.  The inspections 
were prompted by the DNR after one of the pen systems failed releasing thousands 
of Atlantic Salmon into the Puget Sound.   

Port of Racine, Racine Harbor Study, Racine, WI – Project Manager/Team Leader 
Project included the above and below water inspection of the North Breakwater 
Outer Leg Timber Crib, North Breakwater Rubblemound Entrance Structure, and the 
South Breakwater Rubblemound Entrance Structure.   

Construction Resource Management, Dockwall Inspection, Various, WI & MI – 
Project Manager 
Project included the underwater inspection of the dockwall at the Construction 
Resources Management (CRM) facilities in Milwaukee and Green Bay, Wisconsin and 
Gladstone, Michigan. CRM is a supplier of liquid asphalt to contractors and others for 
use in constructing asphalt pavements. 

WE Energies, Seal Pit Inspection & Repairs, Milwaukee, WI – Project Manager 
Project included the inspection of Seal Pit Structure at We Energies Menominee 
Valley Power Plant. Collins provided repair recommendations after inspection. 
Addition repair design money may be required depending on the scope of work 
required. 

Crowley Marine Corporation, Underwater Dockwall Inspection, Kotzebue Alaska – 
Project Manager 
Project included underwater inspection and repair recommendations for the Kotz 
Dock. Repairs were necessary where a section of the steel sheet pile bulkhead was 
damaged by seasonal ice flows that caused the seams to separate and fines to 
migrate out creating sinkholes on the shore adjacent to the bulkhead. Provided a 
desktop study with advice on repair techniques for the bulkhead. 

Port of Milwaukee, Liquid Cargo Pier Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Project 
Manager/Engineer-Diver 
Project included an underwater inspection of the Liquid Cargo Pier and obtained 
ultrasonic thickness measurements on approximately 10% of the below water 
members. 

Village of Fontana, Pile Inspection and Design of Emergency Repairs, Fontana, WI – 
Project Manager 
Project included an in-depth bridge pile inspection. Detailed ultrasonic thickness 
meter readings of the steel H-piles supporting the abutments was performed.  The 
extensive corrosion required immediate closure of the bridge until an emergency 
bracing system could be designed and installed.  

Training 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130056 – 
Safety Inspection of In-Service 
Bridges for Professional 
Engineers, 2018 

▪ Hypack Certified 
Hydrographer, 2015 

▪ Hysweep Certified 
Hydrographer, 2015 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 420018 - 
Instructor Development 
Course, 2015 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130078 – 
Fracture Critical Inspection 
Techniques for Steel Bridges, 
2013 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130091B – 
Underwater Bridge Repair, 
Rehabilitation and 
Countermeasures, 2013 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130087 – 
Inspection and Maintenance 
of Ancillary Highway 
Structures, 2012 

▪ E-Railsafe, 2013 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 134078 – 
TCCC GPS Technology in 
Construction, 2009 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 135086 – 
Stream Stability Factors and 
Concepts Prerequisite Course, 
2009 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 135087 – 
Scour at Highway Bridges 
Concepts and Definitions 
Prerequisite Course, 2009 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130053 – 
Bridge Inspection Refresher 
Training (3-Day), 2013 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130091 – 
Underwater Bridge Inspection, 
2007 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130055 – 
Safety Inspection of In-Service 
Bridges (80-Hr.), 2003 

▪ SafeGulf Certified, 2007 

▪ MIC (Microbial Induced 
Corrosion), 2006 

▪ Concrete Piles: Deterioration 
& Repair, 2006 

▪ Fall Protection Training, 2011 

▪ Confined Space Entry, 2009 

▪ First-Aid, CPR, Emergency 
Oxygen 



 Roy A. Forsyth, P.E., CWI, C.H. 
Civil/Structural Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 3 

Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Region 2 USNA and NSA Annapolis Waterfront Facility Inspection, Annapolis, MD – 
Engineer-Diver 
Project included the inspection and assessment of the structural, electrical, and mechanical components of the facilities.  Strict 
security requirements were adhered to. Work included: the underwater and above water inspection of structural, electrical 
and mechanical system components; review of existing facility drawings, previous inspection information, existing facility work 
orders or maintenance plans, and base facility requirements; engineering analysis of existing conditions; engineering 
calculations supporting field observations; production or validation of the facility asset inventory; recommendation of 
appropriate remediation actions; generation of cost estimates of recommended repairs; documentation of assessment 
findings; production or validation of CAD models; and validation of iNFADS data. 

U.S. Coast Guard, District 8 Waterfront Facility Inspections, Various Locations – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the routine above and below water inspections at seven USCG waterfront facilities. Inspections consisted of 
Level I (visual) inspections of all submerged elements within the waterway from the high-water mark to the channel bottom 
and Level II inspections on 10% of the substructure units, which entailed cleaning bands of marine growth around the piles and 
along the abutments at the waterline, mid-depth, and the creek bottom. Level III inspections were provided on submerged 
steel and timber elements. A report with findings, repair recommendations, repair costs estimates, inspection sketches, and 
photographs were provided at the completion of the inspections. Structures included the sheet pile bulkheads at ANT Colfax; 
the tramway, mooring dolphins and boat ramp at CST Greenville; the tramway, loading platform and concrete slope protection 
at CST Memphis; the tramway and steel dolphin at CST Natchez; the concrete pier, mooring dolphins, and floating dock at CST 
Pine Bluff; the bulkhead, concrete revetment, and recreation pier at CST Sallisaw; and the tramway, timber walkway, mooring 
dolphin, and auxiliary pier at CST Vicksburg. 

City of Baltimore, Inner Harbor Pier Investigation, Baltimore, MD – Project Engineer 
Project included acoustic imaging as a result of the collapse of a concrete and steel pier.  Blueview technology was used to 
perform a scan of the pier in its collapsed state.  

U.S. Coast Guard, Algonac Waterfront Inspections, Algonac, MI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the inspection and assessment of waterfront structures to determine the probable cause of distress and to 
provide the design of repair options which mitigate the effects of settlement at the site.  Both above and below water 
inspection of the waterfront facilities was conducted which included 1100 LF of steel sheet pile bulkhead with a concrete cap.  
Thickness measurements, hydrographic surveying, and 3D acoustic imaging were conducted. 

WE Energies, Valley Dockwall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Project Manager/Engineer-Diver 
Project included an underwater inspection of 3,000-ft of dockwall including extensive ultrasonic thickness measurements.   The 
project included Level I inspection of 100% of the surface area and ultrasonic thickness measurements at approximately 100-ft 
intervals along the wall.  The report included inspection findings and recommendations for repair.  

Wilmette Harbor Association, Harbor Underwater Facility Inspection, Wilmette, IL – Project Manager/Engineer-Diver 
Project included an underwater inspection of the Wilmette Harbor Municipal Boat Harbor and obtained ultrasonic thickness 
measurements on approximately 10% of the below water members. 

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Pier Charlie Demolition Plans, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba – Engineer-Diver 
Project included fieldwork on-site at Pier Charlie.  Developed demolition plans and specifications for the existing Pier Charlie 
structure including delivery of 35% plan and specifications followed by delivery of pre-final 100% plans and specifications.   

Minnesota DOT, Two Harbors Coal Dock Inspection and Analysis, Two Harbors, MN – Engineer-Diver 
Project included an above and underwater inspection and analysis of the coal dock.   The inspection included an in-depth 
inspection to ascertain the condition of the current coal dock.  Measurements and timber cores were taken to use for an 
analysis of the coal dock.  Acoustic imaging was used to show the configuration of the coal dock.   

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Underwater Inspection of Navy Submarine Silencing Facility, Pearl Harbor, HI – 
Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater inspection of a newly installed submarine dock and submarine cables.  

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Underwater Inspection of TRF Navy Sub-Base, Bangor, WA – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the inspection of a marginal wharf, service pier and delta pier facilities both above and below water.  The 
inspection consisted of over 2,000 steel, timber, and concrete piles and over 600 feet of steel sheet piling ranging in depth 
from 30 feet to 135 feet deep.  



 Roy A. Forsyth, P.E., CWI, C.H. 
Civil/Structural Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 4 

Shell Chemical Company LP, Shell Barge Dock Inspection, Geismar, LA – Engineer-Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of steel fuel pier conducted to IMCA and OGP standards.   

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Naval Base Guam Underwater Assessment and Hydrographic Survey of Fuel Piers 
Delta & Echo, Guam, Marianas Islands – Engineer-Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of Piers Delta and Echo.  The assessment also included a full hydrographic 
survey of the surrounding area.   

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Camp Courtney Naval Base Underwater Assessment and Hydrographic Survey of 
Offshore Fuel Moorings, Okinawa, Japan – Engineer-Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of the three-legged and mono buoy moorings at Camp Courtney.  The 
assessment also included a full hydrographic survey of the surrounding area.   

Port of Port Arthur, Steel Bulkhead Underwater Inspection and Corrosion Study, Port Arthur, TX – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection of 2,000-lineal feet of port dockwall that had unusually high levels of corrosion.  
Project included the use of clear water box for underwater documentation as well as multiple microbial induced corrosion 
(MIC) samples and tests.   

City of Cudahy, Potable Water Intake Inspection, Cudahy, WI – Project Manager/Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection of the City’s potable water intake pipes and support cribs.  The intake pipes extend 
over a mile into Lake Michigan.  Project included underwater video and acoustic imaging.   

South Florida Water Management District, Underwater Inspections (2008), Statewide, FL – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater inspections of pump stations and submerged culverts throughout the Florida Everglades.   

 
U.S. Coast Guard, Underwater Facility Inspections (2008), Great Lakes Region, IL & WI – Inspection Team Leader 
Project included above and below water inspections of 7 Coastguard waterfront facilities located along Lake Michigan.     

U.S. Coast Guard, Underwater Facility Inspections (2008), Midwest Region – Inspection Team Leader 
Project included above and below water inspections of 7 Coastguard waterfront facilities located in Missouri, Illinois, Iowa, 
Kentucky, and Kansas.   

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Adak Underwater Assessment, Adak Island, AK – Engineer-Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of Piers 3 and 5.  Repair plans were developed and an independent 
mooring system was designed and installed to facilitate the anticipated future activities.  

Port of Manta Underwater Inspection, Manta, Ecuador – Engineer Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of the existing international shipping pier. Repair plans were developed as 
part of an ongoing facility upgrade initiative. 

U.S. Coast Guard, CEU-Cleveland, Underwater Facility Inspections (2007), NC – Engineer-Diver 
Project included above and below water inspection of the USCG waterfront facilities at 9 Coastguard stations located 
throughout the Atlantic coastline of North Carolina.  

Inver Geal Management Company, Above and Below Water Inspection of Apartment Complex, Carrick-on-Shannon, Ireland – 
Engineer-Diver 
Project included investigation on on-going soil settlement issues at the site.  Project tasks included an above and below water 
inspection of the adjacent quaywall and surrounding areas.  Repair plans were developed based on inspection findings and 
design document reviews.  

WE Energies, Elm Road Power Plant Dockwall Inspection, Oak Creek, WI – Engineer-Diver/Structural Engineer 
Project included above and below water structural inspections of two separate sections of dockwall.  Extensive D-meter 
readings were compiled and the findings were used to conduct a structural analysis of the walls as they exist now and as they 
are expected to exist 40 years from now with an extrapolated corrosion rate and additional coal unloading crane loads.  

WE Energies, Port Washington Power Plant Traveling Screen Inspection, Port Washington, WI – Project Engineer 
Project included inspection of the traveling screen filtration system in the plant’s intake tunnel due to a problem with debris 
breaching the filtration system and causing problems with plant operational equipment.  



 Roy A. Forsyth, P.E., CWI, C.H. 
Civil/Structural Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 5 

City of Milwaukee, Underwater Dockwall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Project Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection of 500-ft of steel dockwall to assess the structural significance of large splits that 
were forming in the sheeting. Inspection findings concluded that localized failures were caused by severe corrosion due to 
microbial induced corrosion (MIC).  

City of Racine, Underwater Dockwall Inspection, Racine, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection and repair design of approximately 1300-ft of steel sheeting. 

Port of Cork, Company Underwater Baseline Condition Survey of 24 Port Facilities, Cork, Ireland – Project Engineer-Diver 
Project included widespread coverage of microbial induced corrosion and resulting deterioration. Additional project work 
included the development of reports including repair recommendations and cost estimates.  Also developed a Port S.A.M.S. 
(Structure Assessment Management System) database to help the Port manage repair and rehabilitation efforts on its 
extensive amount of infrastructure. 

− Timber Jetty, Tivoli, Ireland – Project Engineer-Diver for the underwater inspection of a facility containing 50 timber 
piles. 

− South Deep Water Quay, Cork, Ireland - Project Engineer-Diver for the underwater inspection of a facility containing 
600-ft of masonry block dockwall. 

− Custom House Quay South, Cork, Ireland - Project Engineer-Diver for the underwater inspection of a facility containing 
City of Milwaukee, Greenfield Avenue Dockwall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Engineer-Diver 

Project included underwater inspection of 100 feet of timber and steel dockwall to assess ongoing sinkhole problems.  Project 
also involved development and oversight of underwater repair. 

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Underwater Inspection of TRF Navy Sub-Base, Bangor, WA – Project 
Engineer-Diver 
Project included inspection of the marginal wharf and delta pier facilities both above and below water.  The inspection 
consisted of over 2,000 steel, timber, and concrete piles and over 600 feet of steel sheet piling ranging in depth from 30 feet to 
135 feet.  

Northrop Grumman Newport News, Facility Emergency Waterfront Inspection, Newport News, VA – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the emergency inspection of 9,000 feet of waterfront following Hurricane Andrew.  Inspections included steel 
and concrete bulkhead, dry docks, shipways, wharfs, and cathodic protection systems. 

Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, TRF Navy Sub-Base, Bangor, WA – Project Engineer-Diver 
Project included inspection of the marginal wharf and delta pier facilities both above and below water.  The inspection 
consisted of over 2,000 steel, timber, and concrete piles and over 600-ft of steel sheet piling ranging in depth from 30-ft to 
130-ft .  An on-site dive recompression chamber was utilized in accordance with OSHA regulations because depths routinely 
exceeded 90-ft .  



 Marc J. Stern, P.E., CWI 
Civil Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 1 

Key Qualifications 

Mr. Stern is a Civil Engineer with 4 years of experience in a variety of underwater 
bridge inspection, ancillary sign structure inspection, UAS inspections, and 
design/construction projects.  Mr. Stern’s inspection capabilities are supplemented 
by being an Association of Dive Contractors International (ADCI) certified 
surface-supplied air dive supervisor, a Bureau of Canadian Dive Contractors (BCDC) 
certified diver, and a FAA Part 107 UAS pilot.  Mr. Stern’s construction inspection 
experience includes both large and small roadway and bridge construction projects. 

Mr. Stern is a certified diver experienced in scuba and surface-supplied air diving and 
has experience in working in extreme conditions including poor visibility, high current 
and confined spaces, extreme cold, and extreme depths. 

Project Experience 

Marine/Waterfront Inspection 

NAVFAC, Pearl Harbor Inspection, Honolulu, HI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included field investigations, assessment, and documentation of the general 
condition of the waterfront facilities. Assessment of the facilities includes but is not 
limited to: underwater and above water inspection of structural, electrical, and 
mechanical system components; review of the facilities to determine if there are 
steel pipe piles and if so, to determine weld type; review of existing facility drawings; 
review and annotation of previous inspection information and maintenance plans; 
and documentation of assessment findings. 

NAVFAC, San Diego Inspection, San Diego, CA – Engineer-Diver 
Project included field investigations, assessment, and documentation of the general 
condition of the waterfront facilities. Assessment of the facilities includes but is not 
limited to: underwater and above water inspection of structural, electrical, and 
mechanical system components; review of the facilities to determine if there are 
steel pipe piles and if so, to determine weld type; review of existing facility drawings; 
review and annotation of previous inspection information and maintenance plans; 
and documentation of assessment findings. 

Milwaukee Water Works, Howard Avenue West Clearwell Underwater Inspection, 
Milwaukee WI – Engineer-Diver
Project included the structural inspection services pertaining to the interior of the 
Howard Avenue West Clearwell including two pipes.  The purpose of the inspection 
and dye testing is to determine the general structural condition of the Clearwell and 
perform detailed dye testing to identify any noticeable leakage that can be detected.  

Milwaukee Water Works, Linnwood North Reservoir and Tunnel Underwater 
Inspection, Milwaukee WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater examination of the concrete tunnel (approximately 
118-ft) and one wall (approximately 250—ft) of the North Reservoir at the Linnwood 
Plant. The purpose of the inspection and dye testing was to determine the general 
structural condition of the concrete and perform detailed dye testing to identify any 
noticeable leakage. 

Milwaukee Water Works, Potable Water Reservoir Inspection (2017), Milwaukee, 
WI – Engineer-Diver-UAS Pilot 
Project included a visual and tactile inspection of all below and above water surfaces 
on the interior and the exterior of the Florist Avenue 12 MG Potable Water Reservoir.  
Project included use of specialized sealed potable water diving equipment, 
underwater video, sediment and water sampling on the interior of the tank.  On the 
exterior, UAS aerial photography, infrared imagery, and laser point cloud data were 
obtained to document the general conditions, observed deficiencies, any areas of 
deflection/settlement from design elevations.   

Education 

B.S., Civil Engineering 
(Environmental), University of 
Wisconsin – Platteville, 2014

Years of Experience – 4 

Professional Engineer 

Wisconsin 

Certifications 
▪ AWS Certified Welding 

Inspector (#18030631) 

▪ ADCI Surface-Supplied Air 
Diving Supervisor (#58951) 

▪ ADCI Entry Level Tender/Diver 
(#54874) 

▪ DCBC Restricted Surface 
Supplied Diver (#20160865) 

▪ PADI Open Water Diver 
(#14070A6778) 

▪ Kirby Morgan Dive Systems - 
Helmet and Band Mask 
Operator/User (#I-13723) 

▪ TDI Advanced Nitrox Diver 
(#757652) 

▪ FAA Private Pilot (#3376339) 

▪ FAA Part 107 Remote Pilot 
(3983290) 

Training 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Limited Level II 
Ultrasonic Testing, 2016 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Limited Level II 
Magnetic Particle, 2016 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130087 – 
Inspection and Maintenance 
of Ancillary Highway 
Structures, 2016 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130099A – 
Bridge Inspection 
Nondestructive Evaluation 
Seminar (BINS), 2016 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130055 – 
Safety Inspection of In-Service 
Bridges (80-Hr.), 2015 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130091 - 
Underwater Bridge 
Inspection, 2017 

▪ Confined Space Entry, 2015 

▪ First-Aid, CPR, Emergency 
Oxygen, 2016 



 Marc J. Stern, P.E., CWI 
Civil Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 2 

Bloomington Water Works, Division St. Potable Water Tank Inspections, Bloomington, IL – Engineer-Diver 
Project included a visual and tactile inspection of the exposed surfaces of the interior and exterior portions of the water tanks 
with attention given to any observed areas of apparent distress or deterioration that may otherwise reduce the service life of 
the structures. As part of the inspections, there was not be any removal or disturbance of any sediment or other debris from 
the water tank floors. Noted any presence of sediment on the tank floor and determined or estimated the observed amount. 
Photographs included underwater photographs as necessary to document general conditions and observed deficiencies.  

BP Pipelines Inc., Fuel Terminal Inspection, Bromley, KY – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater and above water inspection of waterfront facilities at BP Bromley in Northern Kentucky. 
Project also included a silting/dredging survey and evaluation. 

Milwaukee Waterworks, Linnwood Avenue Seawall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the above and below water inspection of approximately 2,100 feet of steel sheetpile wall.   The inspection also 
included detailed thickness measurements, structural analysis, and follow up repair design.   

Port of Racine, Racine Harbor Study, Racine, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the above and below water inspection of the North Breakwater Outer Leg Timber Crib, North Breakwater 
Rubblemound Entrance Structure, and the South Breakwater Rubblemound Entrance Structure.  Project also included 
hydrographic survey of Shoal outside the north breakwater (survey transects at 100-ft spacing, extending 200-ft offshore), 
Main harbor entrance, the shoal inside the north breakwater (south side of the north breakwater), North Harbor including the 
Yacht Club area; Reef Point Marina basin; Shoal outside the south breakwater (survey transects at 100-foot spacing, extending 
200-ft offshore), The Launch Basin, and Root River, from the west side of the North Harbor to the Marquette Street Bridge. 

Construction Resource Management, Dockwall Inspection, Various, MI & WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater inspection of the dockwall at the Construction Resources Management (CRM) facilities in 
Milwaukee and Green Bay, Wisconsin and Gladstone, Michigan.  

Peridot CM, LLC, Pipe Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the underwater pre- and post-construction inspections of a 110 in. diameter, 350-foot-long submerged 
drainage pipe, using penetration diving techniques. Surface-supplied air diving equipment was utilized in water depths up to 
10-ft. Cold weather conditions existed. 

WE Energies, Seal Pit Inspection & Repairs, Milwaukee, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the inspection of Seal Pit Structure at We Energies Menominee Valley Power Plant. Collins provided repair 
recommendations after inspection. Addition repair design money may be required depending on the scope of work required. 

Port of Everglades, Steel Bulkhead Underwater Inspection, Fort Lauderdale, FL – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the above and below water inspection of 3,000 lineal ft of port dockwall. Project included extensive ultrasonic 
thickness measurements.  The project included Level I inspection of 100% of the surface area and ultrasonic thickness 
measurements at approximately 100-ft intervals along the wall. 

Nebraska DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2018), Statewide, NE – Engineer-Diver 
Collins provided statewide underwater bridge inspections for approximately 65 state and local inland bridges and 
approximately 7 Missouri River bridges.  The work also included BrM data entry and completion of UW inspection reports for 
all bridges inspected.  Underwater inspections consisted of Level I inspection work for each bridge, and Level II inspection work 
for up to 10% of the submerged components.   

North Dakota DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections, Statewide, ND – Engineer-Diver  
Project included the underwater inspection and assessment of 23 bridges ranging from 2 spans to 11 spans in size located on 
various waterways throughout the state that exhibited water depths of up to 40-ft. Findings and dive operations were 
documented on NDDOT inspection report forms and above and below water photography was utilized to record conditions. 

City of Milwaukee, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2018), Milwaukee, WI – Engineer/Diver 
Project included the underwater water inspection of 33 bridges.  Developed individual reports for each bridge containing CAD 
drawing, photographs and detailed descriptions of maintenance and rehabilitation recommendations.  

Dane County Bridge Inspection, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2018), Madison, WI – Engineer/Diver 



 Marc J. Stern, P.E., CWI 
Civil Engineer 

Engineer-Diver 

Pg 3 

Project included a routine bridge inspection, underwater profile, and underwater dive inspection of structure (P-13-0903; CTH 
B over Badfish Creek). Following the inspection, submitted a report in HSIS. 
 
South Dakota DOT, Large Bridge Underwater Inspections (2017), Statewide, SD – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater substructure inspections of the eight Missouri River bridges, the Meridian bridge in Yankton, and 
the railroad bridge at Chamberlain. 

Mackinac Bridge Authority, Mackinac Bridge Underwater Inspection (2017), Mackinac, MI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included tactile/visual underwater inspection of the bridge piers and adjacent causeway.  A detailed examination of the 
underwater surface of the piers and their footings was made to locate the existence of cracks/spalling and failure of concrete 
and steel.  Inspections were performed in accordance with the requirements of the National Bridges Inspection Standards 
(NBIS). 

La Crosse County Highway Department, Bridge Inspections (2017), La Crosse, WI – Engineer-Diver  
Project included ultra sound pin inspections, in-depth fatigue prone detail inspections and underwater dive inspections suitable 
for WisDOT Bridge Inspection Program for nine bridges. 

City of Cedar Rapids, Underwater Bridge Inspection (2017), Cedar Rapids, IA – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the post flood inspection of seven Cedar River bridges.  A Level I and II underwater inspection was performed 
using scuba and surface-supplied air diving techniques in water depths up to 30-ft. Hydrographic surveys were also performed. 

Nevada Department of Transportation, Emergency Bridge Inspection, Elko, NV – Engineer-Diver 
Project included emergency underwater bridge inspections of 20 reinforced concrete bridges due to a recent high water/flow 
event in Elko, Nevada.  A Level I and Level II underwater inspection was performed using scuba and surface-supplied diving 
techniques, as required. The immediate inspection was to assess scour and the condition of submerged substructure elements 
affected by the extreme high water/flood event. 

City of Green Bay, Underwater Bridge Inspection, Green Bay, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the inspection of impacted steel piles on a deck. The Kaye E. Barker vessel struck the CityDeck and the USH 
141/Main Street Bridge (B-5-311) Pier 3 fender system. 

Nebraska Department of Roads, Underwater Bridge Inspection, Decatur, NE – Engineer-Diver 
Project included an underwater inspection of 1 bridge.  The bridge was the STH 51 over the Missouri River in Decatur.  Cold 
weather conditions existed. 

Minnesota DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections, Statewide, MN – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater inspection of approximately 500 bridges throughout the state.  Projects included underwater 
inspection and report preparation of bridges. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2016 – Present), Statewide, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater inspection, hydrographic survey, and report preparation of bridges.  Repeat two-year master 
contracts with Wisconsin DOT accounted for approximately 373 underwater bridge inspections throughout the state. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2015), Northeast Region, WI – Engineer-Diver  
Project included the routine underwater inspection and hydrographic surveys of 26 bridges located within WisDOT’s Northeast 
Region.  Work included a Level I and Level II underwater inspection utilizing scuba equipment in water depths up to 10 feet. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2015), Southeast, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included the initial underwater inspection and hydrographic survey of eight bridges located within WisDOT's Southwest 
Region. Work included a Level I and Level II underwater inspection utilizing scuba equipment in water depths up to 10-ft. 

City of Two Rivers, Two Rivers Railroad Bridge Inspection, Two Rivers, WI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater inspection of an abandoned railroad bridge in Two Rivers. The work included diving, hydrographic 
surveys, and non-destructive testing. Reports were created and entered into the WI HSIS system 



Christopher S. Hartzell, P.L.S, CWI 
Technical Lead – 3-D Acquisition & Survey Systems 

Engineering Technician/Diver 

Qualifications

Mr. Hartzell has more than 25 years of experience in the surveying field and is a 
Professional Land Surveyor in the State of Wisconsin.  He has experience in most 
all aspects of the surveying profession, from small boundary surveys, construction 
layout private and public, subdivision and site design, small and large land 
divisions, to complex ALTA/ASCM land title surveys.   

Mr. Hartzell also has experience in field operations for static and mobile LiDAR, 
UAS topographic surveys, bathymetric surveys, 2-D underwater acoustic imaging, 
3-D underwater acoustic scanning and bridge and sign inspection. Mr. Hartzell has 
extensive experience in the drafting of all these types of projects, from simple 
drafting exercises, construction and management of large sets of data, and 
3-dimensional modeling to standards development and software instruction.

 

Project Experience

Port of Racine, Racine Harbor Study, Racine, WI – Project Surveyor, 
Hydrographer  
Project included the above and below water inspection of the North Breakwater 
Outer Leg Timber Crib, North Breakwater Rubblemound Entrance Structure, and 
the South Breakwater Rubblemound Entrance Structure.   

Milwaukee Waterworks, Linnwood Ave. Seawall Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – 
Technician 
Project included the above and below water inspection of approximately 2,100-ft 
of steel sheetpile wall.   The inspection also included detailed thickness 
measurements, structural analysis, and follow up repair design.  Responsible for 
drafting of inspection documents related to field operations. 

Michael Baker International, Patuxent River Bulkhead Inspection, Patuxent, MD 
– Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included a field investigation and design plans, technical specifications, and 
environmental permitting for the demolition and construction of 4,100-ft of 
bulkhead and an existing seaplane ramp. An above and underwater investigation 
of the bulkhead and seaplane ramp was performed to gather as-built information 
in support of design 
 
AECOM, Green Bay Dock Wall Underwater Inspection, Green Bay, WI – 
Hydrographer 
Project included an underwater inspection and hydrographic survey of the 
adjacent channel bottom of approximately 1,500 linear ft of steel sheet pile dock 
wall.  The dock wall is in Green Bay on the Fox River.  The inspection included a 
visual inspection of 100% of the surface area and ultrasonic thickness 
measurements at select locations.  Responsible for post processing the 
hydrographic data and drafting the final deliverables. 

Port of Milwaukee, Liquid Cargo Pier Inspection, Milwaukee, WI – Technician 
Project included design-build rehabilitation of the Port of Milwaukee's Liquid 
Cargo Pier.  Initial inspection was completed by Collins under this 
contract.  Responsible for field inspection of pier, as well as drafting inspection 
report documents. 

Years of Experience – 25 

Professional Land Surveyor 

Wisconsin  

Certifications 

▪ FAA Part 107 Remote Pilot 
(#4065962) 

▪ AWS Certified Welding Inspector 
(#17072471) 

▪ PADI Open Water Diver 
(#0809017112) 

▪ HYPAK Certified Hydrographer, 
2014 

▪ ASNT Level II UT Weld Inspector 

Training 

▪ FHWA-NHI-130087 Inspection 
and Maintenance of Ancillary 
Highway Structures 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Level II Ultrasonic 
Weld Inspection, 2016 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Level II Magnetic 
Particle, 2015 

▪ Nondestructive Testing ASNT 
Certified – Level II Ultrasonic 
Testing, 2015 

▪ FHWI-NHI Course 130055 Safety 
Inspection of In-Service Bridges, 
2016 

▪ FHWA-NHI Course 130091 – 
Underwater Bridge Inspection, 
2013 

▪ AutoDesk Civil 3-D 

▪ Blueview 2D Multibeam Imaging 
Sonar, 3-D Microbathymetry 
Sensors, 3-D Multibeam 
Scanning, 2012 

▪ First Aid, Emergency Oxygen, 
CPR 



Christopher S. Hartzell, P.L.S, CWI 
Technical Lead – 3-D Acquisition & Survey Systems 

Engineering Technician/Diver 

Michael Baker International, U.S. Coast Guard, Cleveland – Baker, Algonac, Algonac, MI – Technical Lead-
Terrestrial/Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition/Engineer Diver 
Project included the inspection and assessment of waterfront structures to determine probable cause of distress and to provide 
design of repair options which mitigate the effects of settlement at the site. Both above and below water inspection of the 
waterfront facilities was conducted which included 1,100 LF steel sheet pile bulkhead with a concrete cap. Thickness 
measurement, hydrographic surveying, 3-D acoustic imaging and mobile Lidar scanning were conducted from a Collins boat. A 
report of findings and repair recommendations were provided.  Responsible for dive inspection and photography of dock wall, 
set up and calibration of 3-D data acquisition equipment (acoustic multibeam & mobile lidar), collection of data, post 
processing of data, and creation of final deliverables. 

Associated Petroleum Terminals (Immingham), South Killinholme Jetty Inspection, Immingham, UK – Technical Lead-
Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included an underwater condition survey of the South Killingholme Jetty, its approach structure, and the 3 mooring 
dolphins associated with the jetty. The condition of the structures was assessed and recorded and remedial works necessary to 
maintain the jetty were identified.  Responsible for custom fabrication of a mounting system, on a vessel of opportunity, for the 
multi-beam sonar collection system.  Performed on site calibration of equipment and conducted the collection of underwater 3-
D data.  Post processed data and coordinated the deliverables. 

Belfast Harbour, Imaging of Sheet Pile Walls, Northern Ireland, UK – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included underwater imaging of part of a ship repair quay wall and Donegall Quay 4/5. Total length is approximately 
440m. Collins utilized BlueView BV 5000 mechanical scanning multi-beam sonar lowered to the channel bottom at 
approximately 10-m intervals to capture detailed three-dimensional (3-D) survey data.  Responsible for set up and calibration of 
3-D data acquisition equipment, collection of data, post processing of data, and creation of final deliverables. 

Modern Woodmen of America, Rock Island River Bulkhead Inspection, Rock Island, IL – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data 
Acquisition 
Project included underwater inspection and BlueView acoustic imaging of the Modern Woodmen of Americas river bulkhead 
wall. The wall is located on the Mississippi River. Approximately 1,000 linear ft of steel bulkhead retaining wall was inspected 
both above and below the water surface. The wall was also surveyed using the BlueView underwater acoustic imaging 
equipment. Responsible for set up and calibration of 3-D data acquisition equipment, collection of data, post processing of data 
and creation of final deliverables. 

City of Marquette, Ore Dock Underwater Inspection, Marquette, MI – Engineer-Diver 
Project included underwater structural/safety and condition analysis of the Lower Harbor Ore Dock. The dock consists of a 
reinforced concrete superstructure founded on timber cribs and over 6,000 closely spaced timber piles.  The inspection 
included checking all concrete for erosion, wear, abrasion, scaling, spalling, exposure and deterioration, for any exposed 
reinforcing steel, and all cracking; checking all piling for misalignment and loss of section; checking all timber for evidence of 
decay and for weathering, sounding timber, probing the channel bottom around dock. Responsible for underwater activities, 
timber coring, sediment sampling, and field data management. 

Irish National Petroleum Corporation, Risk Management of Bantry Jetty, Bantry, Ireland – Technician 
Project included a survey of the Whiddy Island Jetty (Bantry Jetty) to evaluate the condition of the jetty and identify all health 
and safety risks, including structural and environmental risks.  A detailed report was provided.  Responsible for set up and 
calibration of 3-D data acquisition equipment, collection of data, post processing of data, Quality Control review of final 
deliverables 

Two Harbors Coal Dock Inspection/Analysis, Two Harbors, MN – Technician 
Project included an above and underwater inspection and analysis of the coal dock.  The inspection included an in-depth 
inspection to ascertain the condition of the current coal dock.  Measurements and timber cores were taken to use for an 
analysis of the coal dock.  Acoustic imaging was used to show the configuration of the coal dock.  Once the field work was 
complete, the coal dock was analyzed for mooring of different types of vessels.  Responsible for field data, drafting standard for 
report, and drafting report documents. 

 
 



Christopher S. Hartzell, P.L.S, CWI 
Technical Lead – 3-D Acquisition & Survey Systems 

Engineering Technician/Diver 

Marine Solutions, Inc., NAVFAC Region 2 to 14 USNA Annapolis Waterfront Facility Inspection, Annapolis, MD – Technical 
Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included the inspection and assessment of the structural, electrical, and mechanical components of the facilities. Work 
included: the underwater and above water inspection of structural, electrical and mechanical system components; review of 
existing facility drawings, previous inspection information, existing facility work orders or maintenance plans, and base facility 
requirements; engineering analysis of existing conditions; engineering calculations supporting field observations; production or 
validation of the facility asset inventory; recommendation of appropriate remediation actions; generation of cost estimates of 
recommended repairs; documentation of assessment findings; production or validation of CAD models; and validation of 
iNFADS data.  Responsible for planning and coordinating underwater 3-D data acquisition. Set up and calibration of 3-D data 
acquisition equipment, collection of data, post processing of data and creation of final deliverables. 

NAVFAC, NAVFAC Region 3 to 17, Seal Beach Naval Weapons Station, Seal Beach, CA – Technical Lead- Underwater 3-D  Data 
Acquisition/Diver-Tender 
Project included engineering services to perform field investigations, document, and subsequently assess the general physical 
condition of the structural, electrical, and mechanical components comprising the waterfront facilities at NAVWPNSTA Seal 
Beach. The facilities inspected were Wharf 311, Lighter Repair Pier 314, small craft berthing 309, small boat launch ramp 307, 
and seawall and jetties.  Performed an above and underwater inspection of the structural systems and components deck beams 
pile caps piles fendering system mooring hardware and fasteners utilizing visual tactile and nondestructive techniques to 
identify and quantify deficiencies affecting the facilities capabilities and requiring repair.  A visual inspection of the accessible 
above deck and under deck mechanical and electrical systems and components of each waterfront facility..  Served as line 
tender for surface supply dive operations. 

City of DePere, DePere Water Main Inspection, De Pere, WI – Technician 
Project included an underwater inspection of a water pipeline crossing the Fox River.  A Level I and II inspection was performed 
utilizing scuba.  Water depth was 30-ft.  Responsible for posting process field data from hydrographic survey, draft 
hydrographic survey, and provided cross sections. 

USCG, Miami D7 & D8 Inspections, Various Facilities, FL – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included routine underwater inspections with recommendations and database entry to CEU-Miami for 6 facilities in 
Florida.  Provided inspection services at Sector Jacksonville, Station Ponce De Leon, Station Canaveral, Station Destin, Station 
Panama City, and Station Pensacola.  Responsible for 3-D acoustic scanning of bulkheads in Miami.  Posted process scans and 
draft report documents. 

Euclid Underwater Pier Inspection, Euclid, OH – Technician 
Project included an underwater inspection of the 100-ft-long pier and outfall pipe.  Determined the condition of the pier and 
outfall pipe, as well as documented the location of the outfall pipe.  A letter report was prepared detailing the inspection 
findings.  Responsible for field inspection and documents. 

Nebraska DOT, Decatur Underwater Inspection, Decatur, NE – Technician/Hydrographer 
Project included an underwater inspection of the bridge over STH 51 and the Missouri River.  Responsible for underwater 
inspection activities, collection of hydrographic survey data, 2-D underwater acoustic imagery and post processing of field data, 
and generation of project deliverables. 

Minnesota DOT, Statewide Underwater Inspection (2016), Various, MN – Technician 
Project included underwater inspections and report preparation of bridges throughout the state of Minnesota. Project included 
approximately 570 bridges – 370 bridges on the local system, and 200 trunk highway and state-aid bridges.  Inspections included 
both visual and tactile for the entire underwater portion of each substructure. Scope of work for bridges previously not inspected 
included checking concrete for erosion, wear, abrasion, scaling, spalling, exposure, deterioration, exposed reinforcing steel, and 
all cracking. Exposed structural steel and piling were checked for misalignment, loss of section, and significant metal pitting due 
to the presence of a population of Beggiatoa microbes. Timber was checked for presence of marine borers, for evidence of fungus 
decay, and for excessive weathering.  Responsible for underwater inspection activities. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Inspection WO 11 – LAX Dresbach Initial, LaCrosse, WI – Technician/Hydrographer 
Project included the initial underwater bridge inspection and hydrographic survey services for 2 bridges located near LaCrosse, 
WI.  The bridges were numbers B-32-222 and B-32-223 over the Mississippi River.  Responsible for underwater inspection 
activities, collection of hydrographic survey data, post processing of field data, and generation of project deliverables. 



Christopher S. Hartzell, P.L.S, CWI 
Technical Lead – 3-D Acquisition & Survey Systems 

Engineering Technician/Diver 

Canadian Pacific Railroad, PSP Underwater Bridge Inspection, Various, MN & WI – Technician 
Project included the underwater bridge inspection services for 8 bridges in the St. Paul Division (Minnesota) and 4 bridges in the 
Glenwood Division (Wisconsin).  Responsible for underwater inspection and 2-D acoustic imaging of 4 structures in Wisconsin. 

WSP Sells, Inc., RITBA Jamestown Bridge Inspection, Narragansett, RI – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data 
Acquisition/Hydrographer 
Project included on call bridge inspection services. Collins was retained as a subconsultant to WSP USA Group and performed 
underwater inspections of bridges on RITBA Bridges under On-Call Bridge Inspection Services - Contract 15 - 17.   This 
Assignment was for the Jamestown Verrazzano Bridge in Naragansett.  Responsible for underwater 3-D scanning of bridge 
piers, conducting hydrographic survey, post processing of all data gathered, and generation of project deliverables. 

Wisconsin DOT, Paper Mill Underwater Inspection (B-50-82), Park Falls, WI – Hydrographer 
Project included an underwater inspection of structure B-50-82 and the adjacent paper mill building which is founded on 
submerged concrete piles.  The inspection was completed as part of the planning stages for replacement of the bridge.  
Responsible for post processing hydrographic data and generating project deliverables. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspection (B-49-92), Knowlton, WI – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included an in-depth inspection of Bridge B-49-92. A Level I and Level II underwater inspection utilizing scuba 
equipment in water depths up to 15-ft was performed.  Work also included detailed ultrasonic thickness measurements of 
remaining steel pile section, concrete coring, and 3-D imaging.  Responsible for set up and calibration of 3-D  data acquisition 
equipment, collection of data, post processing of data and creation of final deliverables. 

Nebraska DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspection, Niobrara, NE – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included the routine underwater inspection along with Mobile 3-D acoustic scanning.   Performed on site calibration of 
equipment and conducted the collection of underwater 3-D data in high flow conditions, post processed 3-D data, and provided 
deliverables. 

Montana DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspections (2015), Statewide, MT – Hydrographer 
Project included underwater bridge inspections and hydrographic surveys of 35 bridges located throughout Montana.  The 
inspections involved a thorough visual inspection, if possible (tactile if not), of each substructure element, a determination of 
the amount of scour in the area of the bridge, indicating to what extent, if any, that the footings are exposed or undermined, 
noting the existence of any other condition which may adversely affect the structure or require remedial attention. A complete 
and detailed written report was provided documenting the results of the inspection and surveys.  Responsible for development 
of in-house CAD standards for the drafting of Hydrographic surveys, post processing of hydrographic data, drafting of 
hydrographic maps and training additional staff in the post processing and drafting of hydrographic maps. 
 
Iowa DOT, Underwater Bridge Inspection (2014), Statewide, IA – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included the underwater bridge inspection work including underwater inspection of 36 bridges and hydrographic 
surveys of 19 bridges. The work also included the development of an underwater inspection procedure to be used on this 
project and future projects. Other services included unscheduled inspections to evaluate flood damage or other damage.  
Responsible for set up and calibration of 3-D data acquisition equipment, collection of data, post processing of data, and 
creation of hydrographic survey maps. 

Illinois DOT, Underwater Inspection of 25 Bridges (2012), Statewide, IL – Technical Lead-Underwater 3-D Data Acquisition 
Project included underwater bridge inspection services for 25 IDOT Bridges located throughout the state.  Work consisted of 
routine and special inspections underwater inspections, including hydrographic survey and acoustic/3-D imaging scanning was 
required to locate any remnants of the previous structure on that site to plan around any obstructions.  Responsible for 3-D 
scanning, as well as processing scans and developing CAD plans of findings. 

Wisconsin DOT, Underwater Inspection of 39 Bridges, Statewide, WI – Technician 
Project included Level I and II underwater bridge inspections on 39 steel and concrete bridges.  Responsible for field operation 
in support of divers and hydrographic surveys. 











Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

 
 

 

www.intertek.com/building 
 

Professional Service Industries, Inc. 
821 Corporate Court, Waukesha, Wisconsin 53189 

Phone: (262) 521-2125 
Fax: (262) 521-2471 

 
 
City of Lake Geneva 
626 Geneva Street 
Lake Geneva, WI  53147 
 
Attn: Dave Nord 
 City Administrator 
 cityadmin@cityoflakegeneva.com 
 
Re: Proposal for Asbestos and Lead-Based Paint Survey 

Riviera Building 
812 Wrigley Drive 
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 
 

Mr. Nord: 
 
Professional Service Industries, Inc. (PSI), an Intertek Company, is pleased to submit this proposal for performing 
a survey of the Riviera Building for Asbestos-Containing Materials (ACM) and Lead-Based Paint.  This proposal 
includes a review of furnished project information, presents our proposed scope of services, and contains report 
delivery and fee information. 

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

PSI understands that the City of Lake Geneva is preparing for renovations to the Riviera Building located at 812 
Wrigley Drive, Lake Geneva, Wisconsin.  As part of the City’s due diligence process, they are accepting proposals 
for the completion of a pre-renovation asbestos and lead-based paint survey of the entire building as indicated 
in the City’s Request for Proposal dated May 10, 2019 and Addendum No. 1 dated May 17, 2019.  
 

PSI’S  CREDENTIALS AND EXPERIENCE 

PSI is a Wisconsin certified Asbestos Company and a certified Lead Company.  In addition, our local staff that may 
be assigned to your project have individual certifications as shown in the table below. 
 

 
CERTIFIED PROFESSIONALS IN WISCONSIN 

 
Discipline Accredited Local Personnel 

Asbestos Inspectors 7 
Asbestos Contractor Supervisors 6 

Asbestos Project Designers 1 
Asbestos Management Planners 1 

NIOSH 582 Microscopists 3 
Lead Risk Assessors 3 

Professional Engineers 11 

mailto:cityadmin@cityoflakegeneva.com


Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 2 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

 
If awarded this contract, the following individuals may be assigned to your project.  Years of relevant experience 
are shown in parenthesis. 
 
 Mike Larsen (+20 years)    Michael Rehfeldt (+15 years)  
 Matt Geldmeyer (+15 years)   Shelley Hildebrandt (+10 years) 
 Jim Updike (+30 years)    Benjamin Berg (+15 years) 
 Kuy Herpel (+10 years)    Larry Raether (+20 years) 
 
Profiles of a few similar projects that these staff have completed are attached hereto, along with references.  
 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

ACM and Lead-Based Paint Survey 
 
1. An on-site survey of exposed and accessible asbestos-containing materials (ACMs) will be conducted by a 

Wisconsin accredited Asbestos Inspector.  The inspector will list materials found that are suspected of 
containing asbestos on a room by room basis.  Only suspect materials that are accessible and exposed will 
be assessed and sampled.  We will not open wall cavities,  or other concealed spaces, to inspect for otherwise 
“hidden” materials.   Suspect ACM samples will be collected per EPA/DHS-159 guidelines, which dictates the 
number and location of samples to be collected.  The following is a listing of the typical materials that will be 
sampled. 

 

Surfacing 
Thermal System Insulation 
(TSI) 

Miscellaneous 

Fireproofing Pipe Insulation Ceiling Tiles 
Acoustical Plaster Boiler/tank Insulation Blown-in Insulation 
Hardwall Plaster Breeching Insulation Wallboard System 
Decorative Plaster Ductwork Insulation Floor Tile & Mastic 
 Duct Connectors Vinyl Wallbase & Mastic 
 Thermal Gaskets Linoleum & Mastic 

 
The interior and exterior of the building will be assessed for asbestos, including the roof.  
 
2. PSI will analyze building material samples per current EPA/DHS-159 regulations and guidance documents. 

 
3. The PSI inspector will develop a quantity of each ACM identified. The quantity will be listed with the material.  

Quantities will be given in square footage for surfacing materials, ceiling tiles and flooring, and in linear feet 
for piping insulation. 

 
4. A Wisconsin accredited Lead Risk Assessor will test painted surfaces for lead-based paint with a RMD XRF 

lead testing device.  Up to 100 tests will be conducted. 
 

5. Report and Drawings.   A Pre-renovation ACM Report and a separate Lead-Based Paint Report will be 
prepared that summarizes the asbestos and lead-based paint inspection work performed, identifies the 
sampling locations and material, and presents the results with supporting laboratory reports. Basic CAD 
drawings will be included in the report.   



Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 3 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

 
PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
PSI will begin the on-site survey once approval has been received and full access to the building has been granted.  
We anticipate completing all sampling in three days and delivering the report within 10 days thereafter.   
   
PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 
It is proposed that the fee for the performance of the outlined services be based upon a combination of lump 
sum and unit rates as follows: 
 
Asbestos Survey and Report, Lump Sum1     $    2,200.00  
Bulk Sample Analysis by PLM2 (estimate 100 @ $12/each)   $    1,200.00 
Point Count Analysis3 (estimate 0 @ $50/each)     $            0.00 

Lead-Based Paint Testing and Report, (approximately 100 XRF tests)   $    1,200.00  
             
       Estimated Total Cost     $   4,600.00 
 
Budget Notes:  
 

1) The above cost estimates assume that a certain number of samples will be collected and analyzed.  
However, the client will be charged for the actual number of samples analyzed, which may be more or 
less than the estimated quantity. 

 
2) Point Count Analysis will be recommended on samples determined to be <1% asbestos by PLM analysis. 

If desired by the client, point count analysis will be charged at $50 per sample analyzed.  
    
  



Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 4 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

AUTHORIZATION 

To authorize our services, please sign and complete the attached Proposal Authorization and Instructions for 
Payment form and return one complete copy of the authorized proposal to our office.  We will proceed with the 
work upon receipt of proposal authorization.  PSI will perform the work in accordance with the attached General 
Conditions, which are incorporated into and made a part of this proposal. 
 
Please call with any questions you may have, or if PSI can be of additional service.  We look forward to working 
with you on this and future projects.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE INDUSTRIES, INC. 

  
Jim Updike Larry Raether, P.E. 
Project Manager Department Manager 
 
 
Attachments: Project Profiles – Similar Experience 
  References 
  Project Authorization Form 
  General Conditions  
  



Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 5 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

 
PROJECT PROFILES - SIMILAR EXPERIENCE  

 
PSI is among the largest asbestos, lead-based paint and hazardous material consulting firms in Wisconsin and 
the US.  We perform hundreds of such projects annually from our Waukesha, Wisconsin office alone.   A few 
recent projects are highlighted below. 

 
Housing Authority of the City of Milwaukee (HACM) 
Westlawn Housing Development 
Demolition Project 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
 
The Westlawn Housing Development was constructed in 1952 and consists of 726 housing units totaling 827,235 
square feet. PSI was retained through the Housing Authority’s annual Asbestos and Lead-Based Paint Consulting 
contract to provide asbestos consulting services for abatement of all asbestos-containing materials from 142 
apartment buildings comprising the eastern half of the Westlawn Housing Development prior to demolition.   
 
Previous to the existing contract, PSI had performed an asbestos inspection of the facility in 1997 as part of a 
program to identify and manage ACM.  Prior to development of abatement plans and specifications, PSI 
performed a supplemental demolition inspection to better define and quantify ACM materials that were 
concealed at the time of the original inspection.  The inspection also included identification and evaluation of 
other hazardous materials such as mercury and PCB containing devices that also require proper disposal prior to 
demolition.  
 
After the building inspection was complete, PSI prepared abatement design plans and specification and assisted 
HACM in the solicitation and evaluation of bids.  During abatement, PSI provided full time project management 
and air monitoring services to ensure that the work was performed in accordance with the specifications and 
current regulations. 
 
The supplemental building inspection was performed in July 2010 and preparation of abatement plans and 
specifications was performed in seven phases between July 2010 and October 2017.  Abatement was performed 
in seven phases and began in September 2010 with final completion in May 2018. 
 
Drury Hotel 
Remodel/Demolition Project 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
 
Drury Hotel purchased the First Financial Centre building in 2016 for conversion into a new Drury Hotel.  The 14-
story office building was constructed in 1928 and totals approximately 154,200 square feet.   
 
PSI was retained to complete a pre-renovation hazardous materials survey of the entire structure.  We then 
developed an abatement bid document and assisted Drury in selecting a qualified contractor to perform the 
hazardous materials removal work.  The hazardous materials removal activities were completed over a period of 
four months, during which time PSI provided oversight for the abatement activities and completed ambient air 
and clearance testing with on-site PCM analysis.  When complete, the Hotel will have 200 rooms with much of 
the original architecture intact. 
 



Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 6 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

PROJECT PROFILES – SIMILAR EXPERIENCE  (CONTINUED) 
 
City of Milwaukee 
Police Administration Building  
Hazardous Materials  
Remodel Project 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
 
PSI has been providing asbestos inspection and abatement oversight services to the City of Milwaukee for over 
20-years.  One recent ongoing project has included Asbestos Oversight and PCM Air Monitoring Activities at the 
Police Administration Building.   These activities routinely involve the removal of asbestos-containing spray-
applied fire-proofing over several months. During this time, PSI is responsible for developing an air-monitoring 
plan for each phase of asbestos abatement and to provide on-going project oversight.  We also collect ambient 
air samples during the project and analyze these samples on-site each day to document air quality during 
removal.  We also perform visual clearances and air clearances of containments with samples being read on-site 
daily by PCM.  TEM sample analysis is also performed as deemed appropriate.  During these activities, the 
Administration Building, which also houses a jail, is in full operation.  As such, special care is required at all times 
to ensure a safe work environment.   
 
  



Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 7 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

REFERENCES 
 
 
Housing Authority of the City of Milwaukee 
Attn: David Flores 
401 East Ogden Avenue 
Milwaukee, WI  53202 
414-209-1802 voice 
414-209-1801 fax 
david.flores@hacm.org 
 
City of Milwaukee 
Attn: Daniel Pitts, P.E. 
841 North Broadway, Room 602 
Milwaukee, WI 53202 
414-286-3407 voice 
414-286-5907 fax 
dpitts@milwaukee.gov 
 
City of Kenosha  
Attn: Zohrab Khaligian 
625 52nd Street, Room 308 
Kenosha, WI 53140  
262-653-4041 voice 
zkhaligian@kenosha.org 
 
 
 
 
  

mailto:david.flores@hacm.org
mailto:dpitts@milwaukee.gov
mailto:zkhaligian@kenosha.org


Proposal Number: 0054-278678 
May 20, 2019 

Page 8 
  

www.intertek.com/building 
 

 
PROPOSAL AUTHORIZATION & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS 

Authorization 
To execute this proposal, please sign and complete the authorization information below along with applicable 
payment instructions and return one copy of the authorized proposal to our office. 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Authorized By (please print)  Signature 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Title  Firm 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________  
 Address 
 ____________________________  _______   _________   _____________________________  
 City State Zip Code Telephone 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Date  Purchase Order No. / Project Tracking No. (if applicable) 
 
Payment Instructions 
If invoice payment is to be made by a party other than the authorizing party above, please provide the following 
information for whom the invoices are to be billed: 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Firm  Attention 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Address  Title 
 ____________________________  _______   _________   _____________________________  
  City State Zip Code Telephone 
 ______________________________________  
 Authorizing Party’s Relationship to Invoice Payment Party 
 
If invoices are to be approved other than by the payment party above, please provide the following information 
for whom the invoices are to be mailed for approval:  
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Firm  Attention 
 ______________________________________   __________________________________________  
 Address  Title 
 ____________________________  _______   _________   _____________________________  
 City State Zip Code Telephone 
 ______________________________________  
 Authorizing Party’s Relationship to Invoice Payment Party 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

1 
B-900-11(14)              9/17    

 

1. PARTIES AND SCOPE OF WORK: Professional Service Industries Inc. (“PSI”) shall include said company or its particular division, subsidiary or affiliate performing 

the work. “Work” means the specific service to be performed by PSI as set forth in PSl’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions. Additional 

work ordered by Client shall also be subject to these General Conditions. “Client” refers to the person or business entity ordering the work to be done by PSI. If Client is 

ordering the work on behalf of another, Client represents and warrants that it is the duly authorized agent of said party for the purpose of ordering and directing said work. 

Unless otherwise stated in writing, Client assumes sole responsibility for determining whether the quantity and the nature of the work ordered by the client is adequate and 

sufficient for Client’s intended purpose. Client shall communicate these General Conditions to each and every third party to whom Client transmits any part of PSI’s work. 

PSI shall have no duty or obligation to any third party greater than that set forth in PSI’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions. The ordering 

of work from PSI, or the reliance on any of PSI’s work, shall constitute acceptance of the terms of PSI’s proposal and these General Conditions, regardless of the terms of 

any subsequently issued document. 

 

2. TESTS AND INSPECTIONS: Client shall cause all tests and inspections of the site, materials and work performed by PSI or others to be timely and properly performed 

in accordance with the plans, specifications and contract documents and PSI’s recommendations. No claims for loss, damage or injury shall be brought against PSI by 

Client or any third party unless all tests and inspections have been so performed and unless PSI’s recommendations have been followed. Client agrees to indemnify, 

defend and hold PSI, its officers, employees and agents harmless from any and all claims, suits, losses, costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, court costs and 

reasonable attorney’s fees in the event that all such tests and inspections are not so performed or PSl’s recommendations are not so followed. 

 

3. PREVAILING WAGES: This proposal specifically excludes compliance with any project labor agreement, labor agreement, or other union or apprenticeship 

requirements. In addition, unless explicitly agreed to in the body of this proposal, this proposal specifically excludes compliance with any state or federal prevailing 

wage law or associated requirements, including the Davis Bacon Act. It is agreed that no applicable prevailing wage classification or wage rate has been provided to PSI, 

and that all wages and cost estimates contained herein are based solely upon standard, non-prevailing wage rates. Should it later be determined by the Owner or any 

applicable agency that in fact prevailing wage applies, then it is agreed that the contract value of this agreement shall be equitably adjusted to account for such changed 

circumstance. Client will reimburse, defend, indemnify and hold harmless PSI from and against any liability resulting from a subsequent determination that prevailing 

wage regulations cover the Project, including all costs, fines and attorney’s fees. 

 

4. SCHEDULING OF WORK: The services set forth in PSI’s proposal and Client’s acceptance will be accomplished by PSI personnel at the prices quoted. If PSI 

is required to delay commencement of the work or if, upon embarking upon its work, PSI is required to stop or interrupt the progress of its work as a result of changes in 

the scope of the work requested by Client, to fulfill the requirements of third parties, interruptions in the progress of construction, or other causes beyond the direct 

reasonable control of PSI, additional charges will be applicable and payable by Client. 

 

5. ACCESS TO SITE: Client will arrange and provide such access to the site and work as is necessary for PSI to perform the work. PSI shall take reasonable measures and 

precautions to minimize damage to the site and any improvements located thereon as the result of its work or the use of its equipment. 

 

6. CLIENT’S DUTY TO NOTIFY ENGINEER: Client warrants that it has advised PSI of any known or suspected hazardous materials, utility lines and pollutants at any 

site at which PSI is to do work, and unless PSI has assumed in writing the responsibility of locating subsurface objects, structures, lines or conduits, Client agrees to 

defend, indemnify and save PSI harmless from all claims, suits, losses, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees as a result of personal injury, death or 

property damage occurring with respect to PSI’s performance of its work and resulting to or caused by contact with subsurface or latent objects, structures, lines or conduits 

where the actual or potential presence and location thereof were not revealed to PSI by Client. 

 

7. RESPONSIBILITY: PSI’s work shall not include determining, supervising or implementing the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction. 

PSI shall not be responsible for evaluating, reporting or affecting job conditions concerning health, safety or welfare. PSI’s work or failure to perform same shall not in 

any way excuse any contractor, subcontractor or supplier from performance of its work in accordance with the contract documents. Client agrees that it shall require 

subrogation to be waived against PSI and for PSI to be added as an Additional Insured on all policies of insurance, including any policies required of Client’s contractors 

or subcontractors, covering any construction or development activities to be performed on the project site. PSI has no right or duty to stop the contractor’s work. 

 

8. SAMPLE DISPOSAL: Test specimens will be disposed immediately upon completion of the test. All drilling samples will be disposed sixty (60) days after submission 

of PSI’s report. 

 

9. PAYMENT: The quantities and fees provided in this proposal are PSI’s estimate based on information provided by Client and PSI’s experience on similar projects. The 

actual total amount due to PSI shall be based on the actual final quantities provided by PSI at the unit rates provided herein. Where Client directs or requests additional 

work beyond the contract price it will be deemed a change order and PSI will be paid according to the fee schedule. Client shall be invoiced once each month for work 

performed during the preceding period. Client agrees to pay each invoice within thirty (30) days of its receipt. Client further agrees to pay interest on all amounts invoiced 

and not paid or objected to for valid cause in writing within said thirty (30) day period at the rate of eighteen (18) percent per annum (or the maximum interest rate permitted 

under applicable law), until paid. Client agrees to pay PSI’s cost of collection of all amounts due and unpaid after thirty (30) days, including court costs and reasonable 

attorney’s fees. PSI shall not be bound by any provision or agreement requiring or providing for arbitration of disputes or controversies arising out of this agreement, 

any provision wherein PSI waives any rights to a mechanics’ lien, or any provision conditioning PSI’s right to receive payment for its work upon payment to Client by any 

third party. These General Conditions are notice, where required, that PSI shall file a lien whenever necessary to collect past due amounts. Failure to make payment within 

30 days of invoice shall constitute a release of PSI from any and all claims which Client may have, whether in tort, contract or otherwise, and whether known or unknown 

at the time. 

 

 

 

 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

2 
B-900-11(14)              9/17    

10. ALLOCATION OF RISK: CLIENT AGREES THAT PSI’S SERVICES WILL NOT SUBJECT PSI’S INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS OR DIRECTORS TO 

ANY PERSONAL LIABILITY, AND THAT NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT, CLIENT AGREES THAT ITS SOLE AND 

EXCLUSIVE REMEDY SHALL BE TO DIRECT OR ASSERT ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, OR SUIT ONLY AGAINST PSI.  

 

SHOULD PSI OR ANY OF ITS EMPLOYEES BE FOUND TO HAVE BEEN NEGLIGENT IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ITS WORK, OR TO 

HAVE MADE AND BREACHED ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY, REPRESENTATION OR CONTRACT, CLIENT, ALL PARTIES 

CLAIMING THROUGH CLIENT AND ALL PARTIES CLAIMING TO HAVE IN ANY WAY RELIED UPON PSI’S WORK AGREE THAT THE 

MAXIMUM AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF THE LIABILITY OF PSI, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS SHALL BE LIMITED TO 

$25,000.00 OR THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE FEE PAID TO PSI FOR ITS WORK PERFORMED ON THE PROJECT, WHICHEVER AMOUNT 

IS GREATER. IN THE EVENT CLIENT IS UNWILLING OR UNABLE TO LIMIT PSI’S LIABILITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH, CLIENT MAY, UPON WRITTEN REQUEST OF CLIENT RECEIVED WITHIN FIVE DAYS 

OF CLIENT’S ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, INCREASE THE LIMIT OF PSI’S LIABILITY TO $250,000.00 OR THE AMOUNT OF PSI’S FEE PAID 

TO PSI FOR ITS WORK ON THE PROJECT, WHICHEVER IS THE GREATER, BY AGREEING TO PAY PSI A SUM EQUIVALENT TO AN 

ADDITIONAL AMOUNT OF 5% OF THE TOTAL FEE TO BE CHARGED FOR PSI’S SERVICES. THIS CHARGE IS NOT TO BE CONSTRUED 

AS BEING A CHARGE FOR INSURANCE OF ANY TYPE, BUT IS INCREASED CONSIDERATION FOR THE GREATER LIABILITY 

INVOLVED. IN ANY EVENT, ATTORNEY’S FEES EXPENDED BY PSI IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIM SHALL REDUCE THE 

AMOUNT AVAILABLE, AND ONLY ONE SUCH AMOUNT WILL APPLY TO ANY PROJECT.  

 

NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND BREACH OF STATUTORY 

DUTY) OR OTHERWISE FOR LOSS OF PROFIT (WHETHER DIRECT OR INDIRECT) OR FOR ANY INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, 

OR SPECIAL LOSS OR DAMAGE, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION LOSS OF PROFITS, REVENUE, BUSINESS, OR ANTICIPATED 

SAVINGS (EVEN WHEN ADVISED OF THEIR POSSIBILITY). 

 

NO ACTION OR CLAIM, WHETHER IN TORT, CONTRACT, OR OTHERWISE, MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST PSI, ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO PSI’S 

WORK, MORE THAN TWO YEARS AFTER THE CESSATION OF PSI’S WORK HEREUNDER, REGARDLESS OF THE DATE OF DISCOVERY OF SUCH 

CLAIM.  

 

11. INDEMNITY: Subject to the above limitations, PSI agrees not to defend but to indemnify and hold Client harmless from and against any and all claims, suits, costs and 

expenses including reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs to the extent arising out of PSI’s negligence as finally determined by a court of law. Client shall provide the 

same protection to the extent of its negligence. In the event that Client or Client’s principal shall bring any suit, cause of action, claim or counterclaim against PSI, the 

Client and the party initiating such action shall pay to PSI the costs and expenses incurred by PSI to investigate, answer and defend it, including reasonable attorney’s and 

witness fees and court costs to the extent that PSI shall prevail in such suit. 

 

12. TERMINATION: This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven days’ prior written notice. In the event of termination, PSI shall be compensated by 

Client for all services performed up to and including the termination date, including reimbursable expenses. 

 

13. EMPLOYEES/WITNESS FEES: PSI’s employees shall not be retained as expert witnesses except by separate, written agreement. Client agrees to pay PSI’s legal 

expenses, administrative costs and fees pursuant to PSI’s then current fee schedule for PSI to respond to any subpoena. For a period of one year after the completion of 

any work performed under this agreement, Client agrees not to solicit, recruit, or hire any PSI employee or person who has been employed by PSI within the previous 

twelve months. In the event Client desires to hire such an individual, Client agrees that it shall seek the written consent of PSI, and shall pay PSI an amount equal to one-

half of the employee’s annualized salary, without PSI waiving other remedies it may have. 

 

14. FIDUCIARY: PSI is not a financial advisor, does not provide financial advice or analysis of any kind, and nothing in our reports can create a fiduciary relationship between 

PSI and any other party. 

 
15. RECORDING: Photographs or video recordings of the Client’s own project may be taken by and used for the Client’s own internal purposes.  Photographs or video recordings 

may not be used for marketing or publicity, or distributed to a third party or otherwise published without PSI’s prior review and consent in writing.  Taking photographs of other 

Clients’ samples, test setups, or facilities, or recording in any manner any test specimen other than the test specimen related to the Client’s project is prohibited; and the Client 

agrees to hold in strict confidence and not use any proprietary information disclosed either advertently or inadvertently.  The Client shall defend, hold harmless, and indemnify 

PSI for any breach of this clause. 

 

16. CHOICE OF LAW AND EXCLUSIVE VENUE: All claims or disputes arising or relating to this agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of Illinois. The exclusive venue for all actions or proceedings arising in connection with this agreement shall be either the Circuit Court in 

Cook County, Illinois, or the Federal Court for the Northern District of Illinois. 

 

17. PROVISIONS SEVERABLE: The parties have entered into this agreement in good faith, and it is the specific intent of the parties that the terms of these General 

Conditions be enforced as written. In the event any of the provisions of these General Conditions should be found to be unenforceable, it shall be stricken and the remaining 

provisions shall be enforceable. 

 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties, and there are no representations, warranties or undertakings made other 

than as set forth herein. This agreement may be amended, modified or terminated only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto. 



 

City of Lake Geneva 

Memo 
To:  Finance, Licensing and Regulation Committee 

From:  Karen Hall, Finance Director/Comptroller 
Date:  June 25, 2019 

Re:  Funding for Comprehensive Plan – Feasibility Study 

It is my understanding that additional funding is needed for a feasibility study related to 
our Comprehensive Plan. 

The Planning Commission recommended an additional $53,000 in costs for this study on 
June 17, 2019.   

I have identified two possible funding sources for these additional costs: 

1. Contingency – The current balance in the contingency fund is $122,755.  After 
this expenditure, the amount remaining in the fund would be $$69,755.   

2. General Fund Reserves (Fund Balance) – The 2018 year-end audited balance 
in unassigned fund balance was $4,155,093.  Our minimum fund balance 
policy requires the City to maintain an unassigned balance equivalent to three 
months of expenditures (25%) of the General Fund.  The balance is to be 
maintained for cash flow and working capital purposes.  This amount was 
calculated to be $2,217,440 as of year-end.  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

120 East Lakeside Street • Madison, Wisconsin 53715 • 608.255.3988 • 608.255.0814 Fax 
247 Freshwater Way, Suite 530 • Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53204 • 414.988.8631 

www.vandewalle.com 
 

Shaping places, shaping change 
 
 

 

June 11, 2019 

Agreement for Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis Services 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the “Client” City of Lake Geneva, 
Wisconsin, and VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin, a professional planning 
and design firm. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Project” is defined as assisting the City in 
preparation of Feasibility Analysis of the Hillmoor Property, proposed in response to Mayor Hartz 
request for exploring general concepts for the Hillmoor Property. 

Article I Scope of Work 

A. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES agrees to provide the following “Services”: 

Task 1: Site Visit & Site Analysis 

       1.1 Site Visit/Kickoff Meeting  

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES staff (up to three team members) will 
participate in a one-day site visit to investigate the on-site and surrounding 
conditions of the Hillmoor Property to develop a more thorough 
understanding of the site conditions and gather additional background 
information from City Staff and Elected Officials.  This information will be 
used to inform the Opportunity Analysis task and build a better 

http://www.vandewalle.com/


VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 2 

understanding of the historic and on-going discussions of development 
options for the site. 

Up to two members of the design team will also meet with City Staff and key 
stakeholders during this trip to discuss project goals and timelines. 

1.2 Preliminary Base Map Creation  

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will work with the City to develop base 
information regarding the site and adjoining properties for use in the 
creation of the master plans. 

1.3 Site Analysis 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will undertake an initial site analysis of the 
target property using publicly available information as part of a pre-screening 
review. Items investigated may include, but are not limited to: 

a. Existing Conditions (topography, soils, wetlands, floodplains, water; 
features, streams, lakes, woodlands, existing improvements); 

b. Adjoining Properties (uses, ownership patterns); 
c. Municipal regulations (adopted plans, zoning) 

 
Deliverables: Initial Site Analysis; Estimate of Development Potential (value of developable acreage); Summary of 

Development Character & Property Assets 
 

Task 2: Project Example Tour 

2.1 Project Example Tour 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will lead a one-day bus tour of the Madison 
region to see example neighborhoods and explore successful development 
options.  This tour will showcase existing built examples of different 
elements that could be incorporated into the Hillmoor site. Developments 
visited during this provides tour attendees an opportunity to review on-site 
conditions and configurations and development formats, as well as discuss 
program development, implementation strategies, and project opportunities 
and challenges.  
 

The City will be responsible for invitations, renting the bus(es), and meal costs. 
 

 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 3 

 

 

Task 3: Opportunity Analysis & Concept Plan/Program Development 

3.1 Opportunity Analysis 

Informed by the existing site conditions, VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will 
develop an analysis of the environmental constraints & opportunities, 
preservation opportunities, development potential, and regional 
development patterns/transportation opportunities for the property as it 
relates to the future reuse of the site. The resulting opportunity analysis 
summary will look at general development patterns, character opportunities, 
and key site components.  

3.2 Public Input 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will host a public input meeting to gather   
general input on the project direction and property goals.   

 

3.3 Concept Master Plans 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will create up to three conceptual master 
plan/Program Development Concepts for the development of the target 
parcel, based upon information gained during the site analysis phases and 
program goals for the project. 

 

3.4 Public Engagement Event 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will organize a public workshop/ open house 
and interactive charette event for the community to review the draft 
concept plans and gather input.   
 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will provide a meeting flyer. The City will be responsible for distribution of the 
flyer and additional publicity. 
 

3.5 Concept Refinement & Project Valuation 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will undertake one round of revisions to the 
Concept Master Plans and develop preliminary valuations for the 
development scenarios. 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 4 

 
   VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES will provide all deliverables in digital format (PDF). 
 

B. Additional Services, beyond those stated in Article I.A., may be provided through a 
formal amendment, as approved by City Counsel.  

C. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES agrees to provide its professional Services in 
accordance with generally accepted standards of its profession. 

Article II Client’s Responsibilities 

A. Client agrees to provide VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES with all base maps, blueprints, 
aerial photos, studies, reports, and ordinances needed to complete these Services. 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES may reasonably rely on the accuracy and completeness 
of these items. Client agrees to provide these items and to render decisions in a 
timely manner so as not to delay the orderly and sequential progress of 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES Services. 

B. The administrative liaison between VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES and the Client will 
be Tom Hartz, Mayor. 

C. Client agrees that the following individuals are approved to authorize Additional 
Services via a Work Order:  

D. Client understands that any work product delivered in electronic form under this 
Agreement may require Client to use certain third-party hardware and/or software 
products. Client shall be solely responsible for obtaining licenses to use such third-
party software. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES makes no warranties or representations 
as to the quality, capabilities, operations, performance or suitability of any third-party 
hardware or software including the ability to integrate with any software currently in 
use by the Client. Client acknowledges that the quality, capabilities, operations, 
performance, and suitability of any third-party hardware or software lies solely with 
Client and the vendor or supplier of that hardware or software. 

E. If Client makes any modifications to Deliverables, Client shall either 1) obtain the 
prior written consent of VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES; or 2) remove VANDEWALLE 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 5 

& ASSOCIATES name from the Deliverables. In the event that Client selects option 
#2, VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall not be liable or otherwise responsible for 
such modifications or their effect on the results of the implementation of the 
recommendations contained in such Deliverables. 

Article III Estimated Schedule 

A. Services in this Agreement shall commence from June 11, 2019 and be in effect for 
five months, unless the parties agree otherwise. 

B. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall render its Services as expeditiously as is 
consistent with professional skill and care. During the course of the Project, 
anticipated and unanticipated events may impact the Project schedule and 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall not be responsible for any delays caused by 
factors beyond its reasonable control. 

Article IV Costs and Payment 

A. All work will be completed on a time and materials basis with the budget for the 
Task 1 -3 of the Project not to exceed $53,000. Client acknowledges that significant 
changes to the Project schedule, budget or Project’s scope may require Additional 
Services for which the parties may (but are not required to) enter into a separate 
Work Order (see Article I.B.). 

B. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall send Client an invoice for Professional Fees and 
Reimbursable Expenses once a month. Client shall pay VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES 
the amounts due under such invoice upon receipt of such invoice. A service charge 
of 1.5 % per month may be charged on all amounts more than 30 days after date of 
invoice. 

Article V Termination 

A. Either Client or VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES may terminate this Agreement upon 
seven days written notice.  



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 6 

B. If terminated, Client agrees to pay VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES the hourly rates for 
all Services rendered and Reimbursable Expenses incurred, up to the date of 
termination. 

C. Upon not less than seven days’ written notice, VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES may 
suspend the performance of its Services if Client fails to pay VANDEWALLE & 

ASSOCIATES in full for Services rendered or Reimbursable Expenses incurred. 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall have no liability because of such suspension of 
service or termination due to nonpayment. 

Article VI Dispute Resolution 

VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES and Client agree to mediate claims or disputes arising 
out of or relating to the Agreement. The mediation shall be conducted by a 
mediation service acceptable to the parties. A demand for mediation shall be made 
within a reasonable time after a claim or dispute arises. In no event shall any demand 
for mediation be made after such claim or dispute would be barred by the applicable 
law. 

Article VII Intellectual Property; Confidentiality 

A. Except as otherwise provided by law: upon payment in full by Client to 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES for Services rendered and Reimbursable Expenses 
incurred pursuant to this Agreement, VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES shall grant Client 
a non-transferable, non-exclusive, perpetual license to use any and all Work Product 
developed or produced by VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES pursuant to this 
Agreement. As used in this Agreement, “Work Product” means all inventions, 
processes, data, documents, drawings, records, and works of authorship, whether or 
not copyrightable or patentable, that are originated or prepared by VANDEWALLE & 

ASSOCIATES in the course of rendering the Services under this Agreement. Until 
Client pays VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES in full for Services rendered and expenses 
incurred pursuant to this Agreement, Client may not use any Work Product to 
complete the Project with others unless VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES is in material 
breach of this Agreement. 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 7 

B. Except as otherwise provided by law: Client shall not communicate, publish, or 
otherwise disclose to a third party or authorize or induce anyone else to use, 
communicate, publish, or otherwise disclose, any nonpublic information pertaining 
to VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES, including, without limitation, any information 
relating to pricing, products, or ideas of VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES. Until 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES is paid in full by Client for Services rendered and 
expenses incurred pursuant to this Agreement, Client shall not communicate, 
publish, or otherwise disclose to any third party, any information pertaining to or 
summaries of the Work Product.  

Article VIII Miscellaneous Provisions 

A. Wisconsin law governs this Agreement (without regard to its conflict of law 
principles or rules of construction concerning the draftsman hereof). 

B. This Agreement is the entire and integrated agreement between the Client and 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES, and supersedes all prior negotiations, statements or 
agreements, either written or oral, with regard to its subject matter. This Agreement 
may be amended only by written instrument signed by both Client and 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES. Neither party can assign this Agreement without the 
other party’s prior written permission. 

C. Notwithstanding any other term in this Agreement, VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES 
shall not control or be responsible for another party’s means, methods, techniques, 
schedules, sequences or procedures, or for construction safety or any other related 
programs. 

D. Client agrees to indemnify, defend and hold VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES, its agents 
and employees harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, suits, 
demands, losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) to 
property or persons, including injury or death, or economic losses, arising out of the 
Project and/or the performance or non-performance of obligations under this 
Agreement, except to the extent such damages or losses are directly caused by 
VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES’ gross negligence or willful misconduct.  



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 8 

E. In the event that any suit or action is instituted to enforce any provision in this 
Agreement, the prevailing party in such dispute shall be entitled to recover from the 
losing party all fees (including legal and accounting fees), costs and expenses of 
enforcing any right of such prevailing party under or with respect to this Agreement, 
including without limitation, all costs of appeals. For purposes of this provision, 
“prevailing party” shall include a party that dismisses an action in exchange for 
payment of the sum allegedly due, performance of covenants allegedly breached, or 
consideration substantially equal to the relief sought in the action or proceeding. 

F. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES reserves the right to include representations of the 
Project in its promotional and professional materials. 

G. All Services performed pursuant to the Agreement are performed on an “as is” basis, 
and VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES hereby disclaims all warranties, express or implied, 
including, but not limited to, fitness for a particular purpose and non-infringement. 
In no event shall VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES be liable to Client or any third party 
for any losses, lost profits, lost data, consequential, special, incidental, or punitive 
damages, delays, or interruptions arising out of or related to this Agreement 
regardless of the basis of the claim. VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES’ aggregate liability 
(including attorneys’ fees) to Client and Client’s exclusive remedy, if any, shall not 
exceed the lesser of the (i) amount of fees actually paid to VANDEWALLE & 

ASSOCIATES by Client with regard to the Services or the Work Order for which 
liability has been asserted, or (ii) amount of fees actually paid to VANDEWALLE & 

ASSOCIATES by Client in the previous two months prior to the claim being made. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto entered into this Agreement as of the latest date 
noted, below. 

 City of Lake Geneva 

By: 
 
 Signature of Authorized Representative Date 

 

 

 Printed Name Title 

 VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: 
 
 Nonna Anderson, Business Manager Date 



VANDEWALLE & ASSOCIATES     City of Lake Geneva/Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis 

June 11, 2019 10 

ATTACHMENT ONE 

FEE SCHEDULE 

 
 
Hourly Rates 
 

Company President   $220 to $250 

Principal  $185 to $220 

Associate    $95 to $120 

Assistant  $75 to $95 

GIS Analyst/Cartographer  $85 to $95 

Communications Specialist      $65 to $120 

Project Assistant   $40 to $65 
 



8.6 Standing Committee Agenda Deadlines 1 of 2 

 

 

 

 

I. PURPOSE 

This policy provides direction to City Staff and Elected Officials on the timeline to 
which agenda items must be received for the City’s various Standing Committees which 
includes: Common Council, Committee of the Whole, Personnel Committee, Piers, Harbors, 
& Lakefront Committee, Finance, Licensing, & Regulation Committee, and Public Works 
Committee. 

 

II. DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBLE 

 The City Clerk and City Clerk Staff will be responsible for collecting for Standing 
Committee agenda items that have been approved by the pertinent Committee 
Chairperson. The City Clerk and City Clerk Staff will then craft the agenda based on the 
items received. 

 

III. PROCEDURES FOR STANDING COMMITTEE AGENDA DEADLINES 

 Any City Staff or Elected Official will be required to request approval of an agenda 
item with the Standing Committee Chair before it can be added to the pertinent Committee 
agenda. Once the Chair has approved an agenda item, it must be sent to the City Clerk or 
City Clerk’s Staff no later than noon on the Wednesday prior to the Committee meeting. 
Once the item has been received the agenda shall then be crafted. 

Exceptions: 

The only exceptions to this deadline shall be one of the two situations: 

1) Prepaid and Regular Check Payment Approvals to be considered by the Finance, 
Licensing, and Regulation Committee shall be received no later than the Friday prior 
to the regularly scheduled meeting. 

2) Emergency items deemed necessary by the Chair of the pertinent Standing 
Committee 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA POLICY MANUAL                       CHAPTER 8- OTHER 

8.6 STANDING COMMITTEE AGENDA DEADLINES 



8.6 Standing Committee Agenda Deadlines 2 of 2 

Note: This policy shall not be applied to Special scheduled meetings outside of the Regular 
meeting times. 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted by Common Council ??/??/2019 




























	0-July 8, 2019 Council Agenda1
	city of lake geneva regular common council
	Monday, July 8, 2019 6:00 p.m.

	08-June 24, 2019 Council Minutes
	Regular City Council Meeting Minutes
	Monday, June 24, 2019 – 6:00 PM
	Council Chambers, City Hall

	09a-Original Operator License FLR
	09b-Jasmine Aveda Salon & Spa Massage Establishment
	09ca-Legion Alcohol Premises Extension
	09cb-LG Lanes Premise Ext
	09da- Bottle Shop Premises Extension
	09db- Bottle Shop Premises Extension Map
	09e- Cruzin Transportation Taxi Cab Renewal
	10-Ordinance- 19-10- Amending the Child Safety Zones
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	11a-Resolution 19-R53-Fee Schedule- Riviera Rental Fees
	Schedule of Fees

	11b-Collins Riviera UW Insp Proposal
	11c-Riviera ACM-Leadpaint- Intertek
	SCOPE OF SERVICES
	Surfacing
	PROFESSIONAL FEES

	11da-Memo 070219 FLR Meeting
	11db-Lake Geneva - Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis
	June 11, 2019
	Agreement for Hillmoor Property Feasibility Analysis Services
	Article I Scope of Work
	Article II Client’s Responsibilities
	Article III Estimated Schedule
	Article IV Costs and Payment
	Article V Termination
	Article VI Dispute Resolution
	Article VII Intellectual Property; Confidentiality
	Article VIII Miscellaneous Provisions
	ATTACHMENT ONE

	11e-DRAFT 8.6 Standing Committee Agenda Deadlines
	11fa-Signed Prepaids 7 2 19
	11fb-Signed Payment Approvals 7 2 19



